INFLAMMATION AFFECTS ONTGENY OF L-CARNITINE HOMEOSTASIS MECHANISMS IN THE DEVELOPING RAT

A Thesis Submitted to the

College of Graduate Studies and Research

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of Master of Science

in the College of Pharmacy and Nutrition

University of Saskatchewan

Saskatoon

By Akhil Reddy Thoutreddy

© Copyright Akhil Reddy Thoutreddy, December 2013. All rights reserved.

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done.

It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis.

Requests for permission to copy or to make other use of material in this thesis in whole or part should be addressed to:

Dean of the College of Pharmacy and Nutrition University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, Saskatchewan (S7N5C9)

ABSTRACT

This thesis research involved investigations into the effects of inflammation on maturation of L-carnitine homeostasis in developing rat neonates. The overall hypothesis was an inflammatory stimulus will alter the ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis pathways and this depends upon when the inflammatory stimulus occurs in postnatal development. The objective was to investigate the potential effect of inflammation on carnitine transporter expression in different age groups of neonates and evaluation of effect of inflammation on ontogeny and activity of enzymes involved in carnitine biosynthesis and whether this differs depending upon when in postnatal development the inflammatory stimulus occurs.

Rat pups at postnatal day 3, 7, and 14 received an intraperitoneal injection of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) at a dose known to cause a febrile reaction in rat neonates. L-Carnitine homeostasis pathways underwent significant ontogenesis during postnatal development in the rat. LPS administration caused a significant decrease in free L-carnitine levels in serum and heart tissue and a decrease in mRNA expression levels of the high affinity carnitine transporter, Octn2, in kidney, heart and intestine at all postnatal ages. Furthermore, significant decreases in mRNA expression levels of key enzymes involved in carnitine biosynthesis was observed, while an increase in carnitine palmitoyltransferase mRNA levels were observed at all postnatal ages. Reductions in butyrobetaine hydroxylase mRNA expression were paralleled by reductions in enzyme activity only at postnatal day 3 and 7. Heart creatine phosphate levels were deceased significantly in LPS treated groups in all postnatal ages; however, ADP and ATP levels were unaffected. Collectively, this research provided experimental evidence for a significant effect of inflammation on changes in L-carnitine homeostasis maturation in early neonatal stages. The maturation of physiological processes may be altered by external factors in early postnatal life.

ACKNOWLDEGEMENT

I wish to express my sincere thanks and gratitude to my supervisor Dr. J. Alcorn who provided me with continuous guidance, encouragement, constructive criticism and advice throughout the course of study. This appreciation is also extended to the other members of my advisory committee, Dr. P. Paterson and committee chair, Dr. E. Krol for providing me with encouragement and valuable suggestions.

I am also very appreciative of all my Lab mates who were helpful and supportive to me over the years of study. Uma, Yun, Kali, Jennifer and Puneet, thank you. Thanks for all my friends.

I dedicate this dissertation to my professor Dr. J. Jane Alcorn, and my parents for their support, encouragement and understanding. Without their sacrifice and support, I would not have been able to succeed in my academic career.

Abstract	. i
Acknowledgement	ii
Abbreviations	v
List of Tablesvi	ii
List of Figuresi	X
Chapter 1	1
1. Introduction	1
1.2. Literature Review	2
1.2.1. Developmental Programming	2
1.2.1.1 Evidence of programming during postnatal development	3
1.2.2 Epigenetics and its Importance during Postnatal Development	4
1.2.3 Critical window of susceptibility	7
1.2.4 L-Carnitine	8
1.2.4.1 General aspects of L-carnitine	8
1.2.5 L-Carnitine Functions	9
1.2.5.1 Long-chain fatty acid oxidation1	0
1.2.5.2 Regulating the mitochondrial acyl-CoA/CoA ratio and toxic effects 1	1
1.2.5.3 L-Carnitine Importance and Systemic Deficiency 1	3
1.2.6 L-Carnitine Homeostasis 1	4
1.2.6.1 <i>De novo</i> biosynthesis1	4
1.2.6.2 L-Carnitine absorption1	7
1.2.6.3 Tissue Distribution and Renal Elimination1	8
1.2.7 L-Carnitine Homeostasis in Neonates	3
1.2.7.1 Ontogeny of Bbh and Tmlh 2	5
1.2.7.2 Ontogeny of Octn2	6
1.2.8 Inflammation and its effect on transporter expression and function	8
1.3. Rationale and Purpose:	0
4. Hypothesis and Objectives	1
Objectives	2
Chapter 2	3

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2. Materials and Methods	33
2.1 Animals:	33
2.2 Materials	33
2.3 Acute LPS Administration in Rat Pups	34
2.4 Serum Tumour Necrosis Factor – Alpha (TNF-α) Levels	35
2.5 L-Carnitine Analysis in Serum and Heart	35
2.5.1 HPLC method validation parameters	36
2.6 Total mRNA Isolation and Quantitative RT-PCR Analysis	37
2.6.1 Primer Design	37
2.6.2 Validation of the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ Method	39
2.7 Liver γ-Butyrobetaine Hydroxylase (Bbh) Enzyme Activity	40
2.8 Heart Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase (Cpt) Enzyme Activity	41
2.9 Heart High Energy Phosphate Substrate Determination	42
2.10 Statistical Analysis:	44
Chapter 3	45
3. Results	45
3.1 Ontogeny of L-Carnitine Levels, Octn2, Tmlh and Bbh	45
3.2 TNF-α Activity:	50
3.3 Effect of acute inflammation on ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis mechanism	51
3.4 Effect of LPS on mRNA expression of Octn2 transporter in kidney, liver, heart and	
intestine	52
3.5 Effect of LPS on mRNA expression and activity of Bbh in liver	55
3.6 Effect of LPS on mRNA expression and activity of Tmlh in liver and kidney	56
3.7 Effect of LPS on mRNA expression and activity of Ct1b and Cpt2 in heart	58
3.8 Effect of LPS on high energy phosphate substrate concentration in heart	61
Chapter 4	64
4. Discussion	64
4.1 Future Directions	72
References	74

ABBREVIATIONS

ADP	Adenosine Diphosphate
AMP	Adenosine Monophosphate
ATB^{0+}	Amino Acid transporter B(0+)
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
BBH	Gamma-Butyrobetaine Hydroxylase
BBMV	Brush-Border Membrane Vesicles
BCA	Bicinchoninic Acid
β-ΜΕ	beta-Mercaptoethanol
Bsep	Bile Salt Export Pump
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
Caco-2	Epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma cells
CACT	Carnitine-Acylcarnitine Translocase
СОТ	Carnitine Octanoyltransferase
CPT I	Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase I
CPT II	Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase II
Cr	Creatine
CrP	Creatine Phosphate
СТ	Carnitine Transporter
DAD	Diode Array Detector
DOHaD	Developmental Origin of Health and Disease
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunoresorbent Assay

FAS	Ferrous Ammonium Sulfate
FC	Free L-Carnitine
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chromatography
HQC	High Quality Control
HTML	3-Hydroxy-6-N-Trimethyllysine
IL-1β	Interleukin-1Beta
IL-6	Interleukin-6
jvs	Juvenile Visceral Steatosis
LCFAs	Long-chain Fatty Acids
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LQC	Low Quality Control
MQC	Mid Quality Control
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
Oatp1	Organic anion-transporting polypeptide
OCT1	Organic Cation Transporter
OCTN2	Organic Cation/Carnitine Transporter 2
PCS	Palmitoyl-CoA Synthetase
PEPT1	Peptide Transporter 1
QRT-PCR	Quantitative Reverse Transcription-Polymerase Chain
	Reaction
SLC	Solute Carrier Family of Transporters
SLC15A1	Solute Carrier Family 15 Member 1
TCA	Citric Acid Cycle

TMABA	4-Trimethylaminobutyraldehyde
TMB	3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine
TML	6-N-Trimethyllysine
TMLH	Trimethyllysine Hydroxylase
TMLD	N'trimethyllysine Dioxygenase
TNF-α	Tumor Necrosis Factor – Alpha

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	Forward and reverse primer sequences, amplicon size, and predicted melt temperatures
	(Tm) for gene expression analysis of various transporters and enzymes important in
	the maintenance of L-carnitine homeostasis using QRT-PCR
Table 2.2	Gradient assay of HPLC-UV method to measure Cr, Cr P, ATP, ADP and AMP levels
i	n rat pup heart sample

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 De novo synthesis of L-carnitine.	1	16
--	---	----

Figure 3.4 Mean \pm SEM Tmlh (PD 3 – white bar; PD 7 light grey bar; PD 14 – black bar) mRNA expression levels in rat pup kidney and liver at different postnatal ages (n=4). mRNA expression was normalized to β -actin. Bars with no star indicate no significant difference relative to PD 3, P<0.05.

Figure 3.8 Mean \pm SEM rat liver gamma-butyrobetaine hydroxylase (Bbh) (A) mRNA expression and (B) activity at postnatal day 3, 7 and 14 (n = 4) (white bar – control; light grey bar – 13 h post LPS administration; dark gray bar – 16 h control; black bar – 16 h post LPS administration). mRNA expression was normalized to β -actin and fold differences (FD) were determined by using ^{2- $\Delta\Delta$}CT method. Bbh activity was measured by quantifying the conversion of γ -butyrobetaine to L-carnitine by HPLC-UV. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test was used for the comparisons between ages and treatments and bars with the same letters indicate no significant difference, P<0.05.

Chapter 1

1. Introduction

Carnitine (3-hydroxy-4-N-trimethylamino butyrate) is a low molecular weight, water soluble ubiquitous molecule that exists in nearly all plants (1), animals, and microorganisms (1, 2). L-Carnitine is available as free L-carnitine (non esterified molecule; FC) and esterified derivatives (acylcarnitines; AC) in mammals (3, 4). Fatty acids are important energy metabolism substrates and mitochondrial β -oxidation of long chain fatty acids requires adequate amounts of L-carnitine. In neonates, L-carnitine has a crucial role in myocardial β -oxidation of long-chain fatty acids, elimination of toxic metabolites, ketogenesis, and regulation of nitrogen metabolism (5, 6).

Neonates are particularly vulnerable to the development of L-carnitine deficiency and its associated physiological disorders since the biosynthetic enzymes and transporters responsible for maintenance of L-carnitine homeostasis undergo maturation in early stages of postnatal life. Neonates are often exposed to several acute pathological conditions while important physiological systems are still undergoing maturation. While much attention in neonatal therapeutics has focused on appropriate dosage regimens for this age group, less attention has been paid to understanding long-term and short-term effects of acute pathological conditions on the maturation of important physiological processes that may have a specific role in the development of chronic disease in later stages of life. Several pathological conditions can lead to inflammation during the neonatal stage and these conditions can alter the developmental program of physiological processes.

This thesis work endeavours to advance our understanding of the possible effect of inflammation on maturation of L-carnitine homeostasis mechanisms in neonates. The effects of

an inflammatory stimulus on different elements of L-carnitine homeostasis at different stages of neonatal development will identify the influence of inflammatory disease on maturation of Lcarnitine homeostasis mechanisms.

1.2. Literature Review

1.2.1. Developmental Programming

Developmental programming refers to characteristics of the environment that appear during fetal and neonatal development, which permanently alter the normal maturation of physiological and biochemical processes (7, 8). Developmental programming has the following characteristics: 1) Susceptibility of organism to external environment is restricted to a critical ontogenetic window during early development; 2) Persistent that continues into adult life; and 3) Unique and quantifiable result that can vary significantly among individuals. Several factors determine developmental programming including nutritional and disease states, environmental conditions, gynecological immaturity, and the maternal or fetal genotype (9).

During early development, a window of plasticity exists, a period of time when the organism may still develop in various directions and has potential to adjust or adapt to its environment. Even though epidemiological research has mainly focused on the detrimental ramifications of programming, it is not predominantly an injurious phenomenon (10). The ability to adopt a phenotype to different conditions prevalent in early life is an important adaptive phenomenon particularly if the environment is comparatively stable. A mismatch between the environment in prenatal or early postnatal life and adult life may culminate in unsuitable adaptations in the organism (11-13). However, adjustments that occur in critical periods of maturation can also guarantee the preservation of homeostasis when the surroundings are jeopardised (10).

Substantial research has focused on prenatal (and to a lesser extent postnatal) nutritional status as this can have significant influence on the developing fetus and neonates (14). The developing system is highly adaptive to the available nutrition supply, a phenomenon referred to as nutritional programming (15, 16). When a discrepancy exists between early life nutrition and availability of macro- and micronutrients in adult life, the permanent alterations induced during nutritional programming may have detrimental consequences in adult life (15, 16).

1.2.1.1 Evidence of programming during postnatal development

Evidence for the ability of the environment in early life to increase risk for chronic disease in adult life emerged in ecological research that investigated the reasons for the north-south division of disease patterns in England and Wales (17). The research uncovered the importance of maternal nutritional state during fetal and neonatal development in coronary heart disease (CHD) (18). An augmented risk of CHD death, high blood pressure, type 2 diabetes, and metabolic syndrome was related to low birth weights (18). This is now termed the Barker theory where it is now widely accepted that fetal programming by nutritional stimuli or glucocorticoids (stress hormones) results in physiological adaptations of the fetus to its environment *in utero* to ensure its readiness for postnatal life (19). Data from the survivors of World War II and the Dutch Hunger Winter also provide clear evidence that malnutrition during neonatal development predisposes the offspring to risk of CHD, metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and other chronic diseases. A multitude of independent research in developed and developing countries have corroborated that chronic disease is connected with low birth weight and malnutrition during pregnancy (20, 21).

The notion of the effects of intrauterine life on adult health and on the incidence of late onset illnesses, such as hypertension and type II diabetes, is a comparatively more recent idea. Forsdahl and coworkers in 1977 reported that the incidence of arteriosclerotic heart disease in a particular age group could be associated with the degree of infant mortality of that same population (22). A few studies conducted in the 20th century showed that a relationship between birth weight and tendency of developing cardiovascular and metabolic diseases in adulthood (23) (24).

Studies in primates demonstrate that over-nutrition during infancy in the female results in development of obesity in early adult life (25). Therefore, the question has been raised: "what is the place of epigenetic memory being stored in the intervening period?" Further research was conducted on baboons, which evaluated cholesterol levels on specific diets (26, 27). Higher plasma LDL and VLDL cholesterol, lower HDL cholesterol, and increased cholesterol was revealed in adult baboons that were breastfed in the early life as compared to bottle fed baboons suggesting primates may be programmed by breast-feeding (27). In fact, post-mortem evaluations showed that breastfed baboons had profoundly more atherosclerosis (26, 27).

1.2.2 Epigenetics and its Importance during Postnatal Development

It has become increasingly evident in recent years that development is under epigenetic control. Epigenetics explains the genetic modification in functions of genes which are independent of gene code or DNA sequences (28). Epigenetics defines changes in expression levels of functional genes over a particular period of time. According to the National Institutes of Health's definition, epigenetics is the study of changes in the regulation of gene activity and expression that are not dependent on gene sequence (29, 30). Evidence is available that shows changes in developmental programming due to altercations in epigenetics following from numerous external stimuli (29, 31-34).

The relationship between the environmental conditions during development and developmental programming is very complex (35). Limited research has been conducted to identify the factors affecting the complex relationship between these mechanisms. The identification of links between external signals and the epigenetic machinery with specific physiological outcomes is an area of increasing importance because of its impact on developmental programming and child health (30, 36). Histone modifications and DNA methylation were two well studies mechanism in epigenetics. Only two of many factors, nutritional conditions and stress, have been studied and well documented. It has been reported that these factors influence adult risk of developing metabolic disease, such as type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiac diseases (37). High risk to develop cardiovascular morbidity and mortality during adult life is associated with individuals born small for gestational age (4 - 7). This epidemiological evidence is now supported by an extensive experimental literature in animals. Evidence on the importance of prenatal and early postnatal growth for later morbidity suggests the existence of a link between developmental responses to early environments and adult biology. For instance, the roles of histone demethylases in the context of whole body physiology are now being uncovered (38, 39). The histone demethylase, Jhdm2a, for instance, was recently identified as a crucial regulator of genes involved in energy expenditure and fat storage and, therefore, Jhdm2a may be a key factor in obesity and metabolic syndrome (38, 39).

It is common knowledge in human history that a child's development during the fetal and neonatal period is influenced by the environment and life events. In particular, inappropriate nutrition is an important causal element precipitating a developmental programming event that

may contribute to the risk of chronic disease (14). The foremost mechanistic hypothesis is that when a critical period of maturation is progressing under suboptimal circumstances, the organism adapts to ensure survival and to maintain vital functions at the expense of other less immediately critical functions (40). Nevertheless, the fetus' metabolic *economy mode* that secures survival in response to prenatal adverse conditions becomes maladaptive in a postnatal world where nutritional resources are not limiting (40). Continued adaptations in postnatal life also play a role in further modulating antenatal programming.

There are three intriguing and fascinating facets about the epigenetic state that are important to relate in the context of developmental programming (41). First, epigenetic states can be paradoxically both reversible and heritable. Second, epigenetic states can be both heritable across cell divisions in somatic cells and potentially "inherited" across several generations. Third, epigenetic states can be both carriers of "memory" of early life experiences and "triggers" of disease susceptibility in later life. Because of the reversible nature of epigenetics, it can be modified by many external factors, which may cause the development of an unusual phenotype (42). Standard physiological responses to these different stimuli also may be changed by epigenetic mechanisms (42). The Developmental Origin of Health and Disease (DOHaD) hypothesis proposes that some disorders, such as type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease, can result from an imbalance between the environments that are experienced in utero, in early infancy, and later in life (43). The key feature of the "epigenotype model" of DOHaD is largely based on the finding that the environment can modulate epigenetic states. Indeed, there is mounting evidence that links environmental stimuli and the epigenome. Examples include behavioral programming by maternal care in rats, and divergence between genetically identical inbred mice (44, 45). Furthermore, environmental influences in early life can induce permanent

alterations in the epigenotype and determine adult phenotypes and disease susceptibility. Epigenetic misprogramming may occur throughout development; however environmentally induced changes that affect programming during early development have a greater and more widespread effect than those that occur during less "plastic" times in development (46).

1.2.3 Critical window of susceptibility

Sensitive periods in fetal and postnatal developmental exist during which even minor interventions can have long lasting effects on adult physiology (47). Fetal or neonatal exposure to chemicals is an important concern since developing organisms are tremendously susceptible to perturbation by chemicals. Harmful effects may happen at concentrations of the chemical that are far below levels considered toxic in the adult (48). Furthermore, the timing of exposure is important as developing systems show critical periods of susceptibility to various chemicals such that an exposure during this critical period will lead to abnormalities in organ function, which may not occur when the exposure occurs at some other time of development (48). These critical windows of susceptibility can be explained by the fact that the protective techniques that are available to the adult, such as DNA repair mechanisms, a competent immune system, detoxifying enzymes, liver metabolism, and the blood/brain barrier as examples, are not completely functional in the prenatal or early postnatal period (49). Additionally, the developing organism has an enhanced metabolic rate as compared with an adult, which, in some cases, can result in increased toxicity (49). During a critical window, exposure to environmental factors will modify normal cellular and tissue development and function resulting in developmental programming and a risk for metabolic and hormonal ailments later in life. Therefore, exposures during critical windows of prenatal advancement usually do not manifest until much later in life (50).

Since each system of organs has various developmental trajectories, and the sensitive window for exposures to different factors varies relative to the stage of tissue development, the consequences of exposures depend not only on the type of exposure, but on the time when the exposure occurs (50). A number of studies illustrate that the *in utero* developmental period is a critically sensitive window of vulnerability (51, 52). Disturbances during the critical window of susceptibility can lead to subtle functional switches that may not appear until later in life. Mounting evidence also indicates that brief systemic inflammation during critical periods of development may results in long-lasting cerebral and peripheral vulnerability (programming or sensitization) well into adulthood (53).

Heindel and Newbold showed several significant principles that depict how early life environmental vulnerabilities contribute to high risk of adult disease (54). Chemical exposures can have both tissue-specific and time-specific ramifications on growth and development (55). As long as tissue is developing, it is susceptible to disturbances from environmental vulnerabilities. These disturbances can result from alterations in gene expression, protein activity, cell communication or other mechanisms (54). The consequences of environmental chemical vulnerabilities can be transgenerational, therefore influencing future generations.

1.2.4 L-Carnitine

1.2.4.1 General aspects of L-carnitine

In early twentieth century, carnitine was first discovered in skeletal muscle extracts (56). Carnitine is a low molecular weight, quaternary ammonium compound and it is present in both Levo (L) and Dextro (D) forms. However, L-carnitine is the biologically active form. L-Carnitine is a trimethylated amino acid that plays an important role in the transfer of long-chain fatty acids (LCFAs) across the inner mitochondrial membrane. L-Carnitine is biosynthesized in mammals from two amino acids, L-lysine and L-methionine, and also is supplied from dietary sources (57). In mammals, L-carnitine is present as free L-carnitine, the major form in the total L-carnitine pool, and as esterified derivatives, which are the catalytic products of carnitine acyltransferases. The acylcarnitines appear as the result of the reaction when acyl moieties (short chain or long chain) are transferred to carnitine from acyl-CoA (58).

1.2.5 L-Carnitine Functions

L-Carnitine has a number of direct and indirect roles in many mammalian physiological systems and these essential functions directly or indirectly regulate overall energy metabolism (59). L-Carnitine plays a major role in mitochondrial β -oxidation of long-chain fatty acids by facilitating their transport across the inner mitochondrial membranes and is of utmost significance for maintaining normal mitochondrial function (3, 60, 61). It is also involved in the transport of peroxisomal β -oxidation products to the mitochondria, restoration of normal acyl-CoA/CoA balance, and regulation of toxic effects of metabolites produced in fatty acid metabolism (61).

Recent experiments and clinical studies have shown that mitochondrial dysfunction secondary to a disruption of L-carnitine homeostasis cause in decreased nitric oxide signaling and the advancement of endothelial dysfunction (62). L-Carnitine is transported via the circulation and is then taken up by other tissues through active transport systems. In the kidney, L-carnitine and butyrobetaine are reabsorbed efficiently to minimize urinary loss. Sodiumdependent cationic transporter (OCTN2) is the primary known transporter responsible for both the active transport of L-carnitine to other tissues and reabsorption in kidney (63, 64).

1.2.5.1 Long-chain fatty acid oxidation

The mitochondrial β -oxidation of long-chain fatty acids is the cardinal energy producing process for organs that require long-term energy. Long-chain fatty acids cannot cross the inner mitochondrial membranes for further metabolism due to structural limitations. Palmitoyl-CoA synthetase (PCS) is the first enzyme in the fatty acid transport process (65). PCS is located in the outer mitochondrial membrane and activates fatty acids that are present in the cytosol to produce coenzyme A-derivatives (acyl-CoA) of fatty acids. Carnitine palmitoyltransferase I (CPT I) located in the outer mitochondrial membrane facilitates the transesterification of acyl-CoA and produces acylcarnitines (66, 67). In transesterification, the acyl moiety of the long-chain fatty acids is transferred from CoA to the hydroxyl group of carnitine. Specific transporters mediate the transport of the long chain fatty acids into mitochondrial matrix such as carnitineacylcarnitine translocase (CACT), which exchanges one long-chain acylcarnitine for one carnitine. Carnitine palmitoyltransferase II (CPT II) facilitates the back conversion of acylcarnitine to carnitine and the particular long-chain acyl-CoA. Within the mitochondrial matrix acyl-CoAs undergo β -oxidation and enter the respiratory chain. L-Carnitine is subsequently translocated by translocase or modified to acylcarnitines in the matrix of mitochondria. Carnitine acyltransferases transfer the acyl group from acyl-CoA to L-carnitine. These enzymes can be divided into three types (58): 1) carnitine palmitoyl transferase (CPT), which transfers medium and long-chain acyl-CoA with more than 12 acyl groups to L-carnitine with a preference for long-chain acyl-CoA, at least at physiological concentrations of Lcarnitine; 2) carnitine octanoyltransferase (COT), which uses both medium and long-chain fatty acids with 5-12 acyl groups having a preference for medium-chain acyl-CoA; and 3) carnitine

acetyltransferase (CrAT), on the basis of their specification to acyl groups and their cellular settling employs short-chain acyl groups (C1–C4) as substrate. The CPT system is a significant feature of *the carnitine shuttle*, which facilitates the transfer of long-chain fatty acids from cytosol into the mitochondrial matrix, the site of β -oxidation.

The CPT system includes carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (CPT-1) localized in the outer mitochondrial membrane, the carnitine–acylcarnitine translocase (CACT), an integral inner membrane protein, and carnitine palmitoyltransferase 2 (CPT-2) localized on the inner mitochondrial membrane (68). CPT-1 conjugates L-carnitine with LCFAs, CACT transfers the acylcarnitine across the inner plasma membrane, and CPT-2 conjugates the fatty acid back to coenzyme A for subsequent β -oxidation. CPT-1 has various isoforms with tissue-specific expression, CPT-1A (liver), CP T-1B (muscle) and CPT-1C (brain) (69). Finally, CrAT, which is situated in the mitochondrial matrix, has the ability to reconvert the short and medium chain acyl-CoAs into acylcarnitines using intramitochondrial carnitine. Decreased CrAT activity results in increased levels of acyl-CoA, which causes in inhibition of many enzymatic processes involved in oxidative metabolism (70) (71-73).

1.2.5.2 Regulating the mitochondrial acyl-CoA/CoA ratio and toxic effects

In the process of long chain fatty acid transport, carnitine acyletransferase produces acylcarnitines and free coenzyme A (CoA) in the inner mitochondrial matrix. L-Carnitine acts as a buffer for free CoA (74). Through the action of CAT, L-carnitine and CoA pools are in close relationship. This reversible exchange allows the cell to regulate its levels of free CoA using L-carnitine as a buffer, and since L-carnitine is present in most tissues at a much higher concentration than CoA, the extra mitochondrial acetylcarnitine/carnitine ratio will prevent

significant fluctuations in the mitochondrial acetyl-CoA/CoA ratio by formation of acyl-CoA (75, 76). L-Carnitine prevents the toxic effects of acyl groups, which are produced by poor metabolism of fatty acid oxidation, by converting those acyl groups into carnitine esters. Since L-carnitine exists as either free L-carnitine (nonesterified molecule; FC), or acylcarnitines (esterified form; AC), the AC/FC ratio is an important criterion for assessment of a functional L-carnitine shortage (76). Enzymatic alterations in L-carnitine metabolism can result in higher levels of acylated carnitines and, hence, an elevated AC/FC ratio (76, 77).

L-Carnitine mediated transport of LCFAs has 3 other distinct functions. A free CoA pool, both in the cytosol and within the mitochondrial membrane, is necessary for many metabolic processes and pathways, including the citric acid cycle, ketogenesis, and gluconeogenesis. When the acyl group of acyl CoA combines with carnitine, acylcarnitine esters are formed which can then be removed from the mitochondrial membrane and cell and thereby eliminated by liver or kidney. This transport of acylcarnitine esters out of the mitochondria serves 2 purposes. First, it maintains a pool of free CoA at the mitochondrial membrane, and second, it protects cells against high, and potentially toxic, concentrations of acyl CoA compounds that could inhibit enzyme activity in metabolic processes, thereby ultimately altering cellular ATP production (60).

The interruptions in mitochondrial function have been identified as the main cause of several pathological conditions diabetes (58). L-Carnitine also removes the acyl groups from mitochondria as acylcarnitines. The increase in free fatty acid levels can induce mitochondrial dysfunction resulting in cell death and/or enhanced secondary generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (78). These effects can be attenuated with L-carnitine treatment. Studies have also shown that L-carnitine has a protective effect both on mitochondria and in whole cells by inhibiting free fatty acid induced mitochondrial membrane damage and/or its secondary effects

(79). The protective effects of L-carnitine and related metabolites have been postulated to be due to improved energy metabolism and the inhibition of electron leakage from mitochondrial electron transport systems.

1.2.5.3 L-Carnitine Importance and Systemic Deficiency

L-Carnitine deficiency was first described as a new syndrome in humans in 1973 (80). Until now, two types of L-carnitine deficiency have been observed: primary and secondary Lcarnitine deficiencies (81). These are commonly classified by the etiopathogenesis and organ involvement. Primary L-carnitine deficiency is caused by disturbances in the L-carnitine system itself and leads to impaired fatty acid oxidation. Primary L-carnitine deficiency is an autosomal recessive disorder of fatty acid oxidation, which can be associated with a novel mutation in SLC22A5, the gene encoding Sodium-dependent cationic transporter OCTN2 (81, 82, 83). Patients with primary L-carnitine deficiency have increased renal excretion of L-carnitine, and patients experience recurrent hypoketotic hypoglycemia and/or dilated cardiomyopathy.

Secondary L-carnitine deficiencies are associated with an impaired mitochondrial oxidation of acyl-CoA intermediates, a limited supply of substrates for L-carnitine biosynthesis, or a dietary insufficiency (84). Secondary L-carnitine deficiency is characterized by free plasma L-carnitine concentrations less than 20 µmole/L or 0.39 mg/dL. Toxicity caused by L-carnitine deficiency results from the accumulation of fatty acids or decreased energy production (85, 86). Impairment in mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation can lead to severe hypoglycemia and dilated cardiomyopathy. In addition, patients with inborn errors of long chain fatty acid oxidation present with a variety of severe clinical problems, such as cardiomyopathy, retinopathy, and peripheral neuropathy, presumably due to the accumulation of toxic long chain acyl CoA esters.

Symptoms related to a defect in OCTN2 may include fatty liver, growth retardation, hypoglycemia, and hyperammonemia (87). Many individuals with L-carnitine deficiency are generally normal at birth and may appear healthy for several years until overt clinical signs appear. Early identification of L-carnitine deficiency can be lifesaving because L-carnitine supplementation during the early stage of a L-carnitine deficiency can reverse certain pathological changes associated with cardiac, neural, and hepatic systems (87).

1.2.6 L-Carnitine Homeostasis

1.2.6.1 *De novo* biosynthesis

Human L-carnitine may derive from dietary sources or biosynthesis employing lysine and methionine. The main dietary sources of L-carnitine are red meat, fish and dairy products, which can provide 2–12 mmol per day per kg of body weight and 1–2 mmol of carnitine is endogenously synthesized (58). The kidney, liver, and brain are the main sites of L-carnitine synthesis. After synthesis, L-carnitine is transported via the circulation and is then taken up by other tissues through carrier-mediated transport systems. In the kidney, L-carnitine and butyrobetaine are reabsorbed efficiently to minimize urinary loss (63). OCTN2 is the primary known active transporter responsible for both the transport of L-carnitine to other tissues and reabsorption in kidney (63).

Endogenous biosynthesis of L-carnitine involves a number of enzymatic steps (Figure 1.1) (88, 89); however, this pathway consists of the rate-limiting enzymes, i.e. N'trimethyllysine dioxygenase (TMLD) and beta-butyrobetaine dioxygenase (BBH). TMLD mediates the hydroxylation of trimethyllysine (TML) to 3-hydroxy trimethyllysine (HTML) in mitochondria of liver, kidney, heart, muscle, and brain. TMLD is a non-haem ferrous-iron dioxygenase

requiring 2-oxoglutarate, Fe⁺² and molecular oxygen as supporting factors (90). Limited information is available on HTML aldolase (HTMLA) that catalyzes the aldolytic cleavage of HTML into 4-trimethylaminobutyraldehyde (TMABA) and glycine. TMABA dehydrogenase (TMABA-DH) requires NAD⁺ as a cofactor and liver and kidney express the highest level of TMABA-DH, which is low in brain, heart and muscle (90). BBH's function is to catalyse the stereospecific hydroxylation of butyrobetaine to L-carnitine. BBH requires molecular oxygen, Fe⁺² and ascorbate for activity. BBH is localized in the cytosol of mammalian cells and is primarily expressed in the liver, kidney, brain, testis, and epididymis (91).





6-N-Trimethyllysine

6-N-trimethyllysine hydroxylase



3-Hydroxy-6-N-trimethyllysine



4-Trimethylaminobutyraldehyde





Carnitine

Figure 1.1 De novo synthesis of L-carnitine.

1.2.6.2 L-Carnitine absorption

Dietary L-carnitine intake by humans ranges from less than 1 up to 15 µmol/kg body wt/day. Vegans typically acquire very little L-carnitine from diet, usually less than 1 µmol/kg body wt/ day. Individuals consuming dairy products obtain 1 to 8 µmol L-carnitine/kg body wt/day and 6 to 15 µmol L-carnitine/kg body wt/day for individuals that consume red meat (92) (93). The bioavailability of dietary L-carnitine ranges from 54-86% of dietary intake. In vivo and in vitro studies on L-carnitine uptake in the intestine reported two absorption modes, linear absorption and nonlinear absorption (92). Linear absorption of L-carnitine represents the unsaturable passive diffusion of L-carnitine across the intestinal epithelium, whereas nonlinear absorption represents the carrier mediated saturable and active uptake process by transporters. Studies of L-carnitine absorption and its components in humans, experimental animals, and cell culture models suggest that L-carnitine is transported from the intestinal lumen into the enterocyte by carrier-mediated processes, but passes across the serosal membrane into the circulation by simple diffusion (94). Consequently, L-carnitine is rapidly taken up from the gastrointestinal lumen, but is slowly released into the portal circulation. Studies with Caco-2 polarized epithelial cell cultures and human muscle biopsy specimens suggest high-affinity, saturable, sodium-gradient-driven uptake of carnitine (95). Extensive intracellular acetylation of L-carnitine (50–60%) occurs in rat and guinea pig intestine and in isolated guinea pig

enterocytes. In rat and guinea pig intestine, acetyl-L-carnitine is more readily released across the serosal membrane than is nonesterified L-carnitine (96). Intracellular acetylation of L-carnitine may facilitate its diffusion across the serosal membrane. In guinea pig intestine, luminal acetyl-L-carnitine was taken up by intestinal mucosa at about the same rate as was nonesterified L-carnitine, but the calculated efflux of total L-carnitine into the circulation was 4-fold greater for acetyl-L-carnitine compared to nonesterified L-carnitine (92, 97).

1.2.6.3 Tissue Distribution and Renal Elimination

L-Carnitine is distributed in various parts of the body with extensive distribution into skeletal muscle and heart. There are three distinctive pools in L-carnitine distribution in the human body (88). The principal pool represents muscle tissues and averages 95% of total body L-carnitine. The second pool consists of liver and kidneys and corresponds to total of 4% of total body L-carnitine. The small pool corresponds to extracellular fluids and it accounts for the remaining 1% of total body L-carnitine (88). The concentration in tissues such as muscle is 25-50 fold higher than in plasma levels due principally to the activity of OCTN2 transporter that actively takes up L-carnitine from blood into tissues against a concentration gradient (63).

The kidneys have a crucial and definitive role in the maintenance of L-carnitine homeostasis in mammals by minimizing the renal loss of L-carnitine. L-Carnitine is eliminated from the body primarily by renal excretion of nonesterified carnitine and acylcarnitine esters (63). As a small, water-soluble non protein-bound compound, L-carnitine is readily filtered by the renal glomerulus. The Na⁺ dependent active reabsorption of L-carnitine by OCTN2 occurs in the proximal renal tubule and helps to prevent the renal clearance of L-carnitine. The total renal elimination of L-carnitine per day is estimated at approximately 100-300 μmol, which is 2-10% of total filtered L-carnitine (92, 98).

L-Carnitine reabsorption and excretion rates are affected by diet and physiological and pathological factors (99, 100). Less efficient reabsorption of acylcarnitines and renal acylation of L-carnitine followed by leakage of the locally formed acylcarnitine products into urine can lead to the high acylcarnitine to carnitine ratio in urine compared to that of plasma (99, 100). The efficiency of carnitine reabsorption increases as dietary intake of L-carnitine decreases, independent of glomerular filtration rate and filtered load (98). This adaptive response serves to maintain circulating L-carnitine concentration in the face of decreased input from dietary intake. Conversely, the rate of L-carnitine excretion increases rapidly, and the efficiency of L-carnitine reabsorption decreases as the filtered load of L-carnitine increases above normal, as for example following ingestion of a dietary L-carnitine supplement or by intravenous infusion of L-carnitine (98). A "threshold" effect is observed at near-normal plasma L-carnitine concentrations, above which the rate of L-carnitine excretion soon parallels the increase of filtered load. This homeostatic mechanism serves to maintain circulating L-carnitine concentrations in a narrow "normal" range (98).

L-Carnitine is required as a cofactor in the transport of long-chain acyl groups (fatty acids) across the mitochondrial membranes to facilitate the β -oxidation of LCFA and hence ATP production. L-Carnitine uptake into tissues is mediated through different transporters; 1) organic cation/carnitine transporters (OCTNs), 2) neutral and cationic amino acid transporter, ATB^{0,+}, and 3) carnitine transporter 2 (CT2). Polyspecific organic cation transporters belong to the SLC22 family and the MATE family (101). The SLC22 family contains the three subtypes of passive diffusion organic cation transporters called OCT1 (SLC22A1), OCT2 (SLC22A2) and

OCT3 (SLC22A3); Organic cation/carnitine transporter OCTN1 (SLC22A4) that may be a proton cation exchanger; the Na⁺-carnitine cotransporter OCTN2 (SLC22A5), which facilitates the Na⁺ independent transport for organic cations and L-carnitine; and organic cation transporter OCT6 (SLC22A16) (101).

Apart from OCTNs, ATB^{0,+} also transports L-carnitine across cellular membranes. This transporter belongs to the SLC6A family of transporters (102). The letter B of ATB^{0,+} represents broad substrate specificity of the transporter system and the superscript represents both neutral and cationic amino acids as substrates to this transporter (102). ATB^{0,+} transports amino acids depending on Na⁺ and Cl⁻ ion concentrations across the cell membrane. ATB^{0,+} has low affinity for L-carnitine and is expressed in the lung, colon, mammary gland, pituitary gland and ocular tissue (103-105). Furthermore, L-carnitine is transported by L-carnitine transporter 2 (CT2). This novel transporter belongs to the SLC6A family of transporters and is expressed in human testis. The localization of these transporters in tissues and at epithelial barriers is critical in understanding their endogenous role in cellular metabolism and function. For example, expression of OCTN3 in peroxisomal membranes plays a critical role in peroxisomal β -oxidation pathways (106).

1.2.6.3.1 Organic Cation/Carnitine Transporters

Organic Cation/Carnitine Transporters (OCTNs) are members of the *Solute Carrier Transporter 22 (SLC22)* family (107, 108). Although SLC22 members can transport cationic chemicals, OCTNs are most notably known for their ability to mediate the cellular uptake of Lcarnitine (107). OCTN class has three different transporters, OCTN1, OCTN2 and OCTN3. OCTN1 was first cloned from a human liver cDNA library, and rodent rat and mouse isoforms were later isolated (109). OCTN1 transporter protein consisted of 11 transmembrane domains and one-nucleotide binding domain. OCTN1 is a sodium-independent organic cation transporter that transports cations in a bidirectional, pH dependent manner. It is a multispecific transporter and has low affinity for L-carnitine in species including rat and humans. It is abundantly expressed in intestine, liver, and kidney (110, 111).

OCTN2 was cloned from a human kidney cDNA library and OCTN2 possibly has 12 transmembrane domains (112). OCTN2 has high affinity for L-carnitine and transports L-carnitine in a sodium-dependent manner. The unique aspect of this transporter is its dual mode of transport: it transports organic cations via a sodium independent process and L-carnitine via a sodium dependent process (113). It is widely expressed in tissues such as heart, skeletal muscle, kidney, intestine, placenta, brain and mammary gland. A mutation in the OCTN2 gene causes secondary L-carnitine deficiency (114). OCTN1 and OCTN2 transporters show more than 70% similarity in their amino acid sequence; however, it is identified that both transporters demonstrate differences in their function (115). OCTN3 was first detected in mouse kidney, and OCTN3 protein has later been detected in a human cell line (116). OCTN3 transports L-carnitine in a passive, sodium and pH independent manner. It has higher specificity for L-carnitine transport than OCTN1 and OCTN2. It is predominantly expressed in testis and in peroxisomes (117).

1.2.6.3.2 OCTN2 (Slc22A5) transport

OCTN2 has a relatively ubiquitous distribution and is expressed in epithelial cells, muscle cells, glial cells, macrophages, lymphocytes and sperm. In humans, the strongest expression of OCTN2 was found in liver (118), kidney (119) (120), skeletal muscle (121), heart, placenta,

brain (122), mammary glands (123), and blood-retinal barrier (124). As well OCTN2 is expressed in intestinal tissues (125) and contributes to the absorption of L-carnitine. In heart, OCTN2 protein is present in the vascular endothelium (124). OCTN2 transporter expression was also found in some cancer cell lines suggesting that L-carnitine has a crucial role in maintaining energy metabolism in cancer cells. In rodents, Octn2 was wider distribution than in human (126). Octn2 was found in blood vessels, and astrocytes. In kidney of rat Octn2 transporter is localized to the apical membrane of proximal tubular epithelial cells (126). In mice, octn2 has localized to the apical membrane of cells lining the epididymal ductules and of proximal tubular epithelium in kidney (126).

Sodium-dependent, high-affinity carnitine transporter, OCTN2, is responsible for the active transport of L-carnitine into several tissues (Figure 2). Skeletal muscle and cardiac muscle utilize fatty acids as an energy source; therefore, a deficiency of L-carnitine in these tissues leads to cardiomyopathy and muscle weakness. In juvenile visceral steatosis (*jvs*) mice, which exhibit a Secondary Carnitine Disease (SCD) phenotype, alterations in intestinal absorption, tissue distribution, and elimination of L-carnitine have been observed (85, 127, 128). Pathologically, *jvs* mice display severe lipid accumulation in the liver, hypoglycaemia, hyperammonaemia, and growth retardation (129). It was confirmed that L-carnitine transport activity is impaired due to mutation of the octn2 gene in jvs mice and mutation of the OCTN2 gene in SCD patients. In addition, Japanese individuals and familial members who are affected by L-carnitine deficiency have various mutations in the OCTN2 gene, all of which are associated with a loss or decrease of L-carnitine transport activity (130, 131). OCTN2 is now generally accepted to be the causal gene of the genetic disease SCD (130, 131).
Renal Reabsorption

Tissue Distribution



Figure 1.2 Schematic of the distribution and role of Octn2 in L-carnitine disposition and importance of L-carnitine in long-chain fatty acid oxidation. Octn2 facilitates the reabsorption of L-carnitine into the systemic circulation and also Octn2 mediated transport of L-carnitine from blood to various tissues.

1.2.7 L-Carnitine Homeostasis in Neonates

The shift in nutritional source from the maternal umbilical blood supply to milk causes important physiological changes in newborns. The source for metabolic energy for the fetus comes from carbohydrate sources, mainly glucose, whereas neonates rely less on carbohydrate sources and more on fatty acids (132). The newborn must adapt to the shift in energy substrate supply. Development of fatty acid utilization mechanisms is requisite to guarantee appropriate physiological development. Moreover, fatty acid oxidation is the part of thermal homeostasis in neonates, and disorders in fatty acid oxidation predispose to a risk for sudden infant death syndrome (133). In neonates, L-carnitine is essential for long-chain fatty acid oxidation. Fatty acid oxidation rates increase in early stages of neonatal development and these results correlate with the evidence that show increased levels of L-carnitine concentrations in neonates (134).

In neonates, the concentration of free L-carnitine in the plasma characterizes the balance between intestinal uptake, biosynthesis, and reabsorption by the kidney. The plasma L-carnitine concentration increases from postnatal day 8 of life and reaches adult levels at 4-7 months of age in human (134, 135). In early postnatal development, neonates depend on an exogenous source as enzymes required for L-carnitine biosynthesis are very immature. Hepatic γ -butyrobetaine hydroxylase (γ -BBH) levels are extremely low in early stages of life and the activity of BBH enzyme increases with age (136). Expression of BBH mRNA, however, was undetectable in foetuses and newborn rats (136). Gene expression of Bbh enzyme in rat shows an increase between postnatal day 4 and 20, but significant increases have been seen between postnatal day 4 and 11. In addition to the maturation of Bbh enzyme, Cpt and trimethylamino hydroxylase (Tmlh) expression and enzyme activities increase during postnatal development (136).

The kidneys play a dual role in body L-carnitine homeostasis. The kidneys efficiently reabsorb filtered L-carnitine via OCTN2 and, at least in humans, the kidneys are involved in L-carnitine biosynthesis. Foetal rat kidneys express Octn2 mRNA and the same transcript is present in all ages studied (91). In human kidneys, however, neither BBH nor TMABA-DH activities were affected by age. Plasma L-carnitine concentration is maintained within a narrow range in

spite of the continuous supply of L-carnitine to the plasma under normal physiological conditions (137). Renal clearance is the determining factor in the maintenance of plasma levels of L-carnitine and renal clearance is largely determined by the kinetic properties of the brushborder Na⁺/L-carnitine cotransporter, OCTN2. Renal reabsorption of free carnitine is 98% and 99% of the filtered load, unless the transporters become saturated. Hence, the kidney has a dual role in L-carnitine homeostasis: it minimizes clearance of L-carnitine in the urine and also the kidney is involved in biosynthesis of L-carnitine in human (138-141). To our knowledge, limited data are available regarding: (i) at what stage of nephrogenesis the OCTN2 transporter is first apparent and at what stage its activity corresponds to that in adults, and (ii) whether renal expression of BBH and TMABA-DH mRNAs are affected by ontogeny. A systematic study on the ontogeny of Octn2, Bbh and Tmlh in foetuses, newborn, suckling, weaning and adult rats was conducted to develop concrete knowledge on ontogeny of L-carnitine mechanisms (136). The results suggest that the kidneys of rat foetuses have a functional OCTN2 transporter and that with development increases in the activity and mRNA expression of OCTN2 and the expression of BBH and TMABA-DH mRNAs is observed.

1.2.7.1 Ontogeny of Bbh and Tmlh

The renal expression of TMABA-DH and BBH undergoes a developmental maturation in human and rats (91). TMABA-DH mRNA was detected in foetuses and its abundance significantly increased from neonatal to adult rats. Renal BBH mRNA expression, however, was not detected until the suckling period and thereafter it was significantly modified by age in rats (91). Therefore, the kidney and liver tissue of foetuses and newborn rats cannot synthesize Lcarnitine or at least the turnover of L-carnitine during these periods is not sufficient to conduct normal physiological functions. Although adult rat kidney expresses BBH and TMABA-DH mRNAs, this expression was much lower than that measured in liver, suggesting that in the rat at least, L-carnitine biosynthesis occurs mainly in the liver. In adult rat, it is reported that the activity and expression levels of these two enzymes in liver and kidney were increased at least by several fold suggesting clear ontogenic changes in L-carnitine biosynthesis maturation (91). In humans neither renal BBH nor TMABA-DH, activities were affected by age, whereas liver BBH activity and mRNA levels were increased by maturation.

1.2.7.2 Ontogeny of Octn2

The shift in nutritional source in neonatal diet necessitates the ontogenic changes in Lcarnitine homeostasis mechanisms. The neonatal diet has a considerably higher content of fatty acids originating from milk. Hence, neonates require maturation of fatty acid oxidation mechanisms to generate the energy from a fatty acid rich diet. Transporters, mainly OCTN2, involved in L-carnitine homeostasis, undergo changes in neonates to utilize the fatty acid rich diet during the postnatal development (126). In newborns, the uptake of exogenous L-carnitine from intestine in early postnatal days is necessary to maintain systemic L-carnitine levels as endogenous synthesis is limited. *In vivo* studies reported the postnatal development of key factors involved in L-carnitine homeostasis (136). Na⁺-Dependent L-carnitine uptake rate in intestine is significantly higher in both pre-term foetuses and newborn rats than in suckling rats. After weaning, Na⁺ dependent L-carnitine uptake is no longer measurable in any intestinal regions examined. This is consistent with the peak in Octn2 expression in intestine in newborn rats with expression levels decreasing with age. Octn2 expression in the ileum was higher than in jejunum. In addition to the transporter expression data, the rate of Na⁺ independent L-carnitine uptake also increased after birth, and thereafter it decreased during the suckling period until it reached adult values (91). Developmental maturation is associated with a decrease in the number (and/or activity) of the intestinal L-carnitine uptake carriers.

Decreases in rat intestinal Octn2 expression with the age indicates that in rats, homeostatic control of serum L-carnitine concentration switches from dietary intake of L-carnitine in the intestine to *de novo* biosynthesis in liver and kidney (142) (143). During the late gestation period and early stage of life, the rat L-carnitine biosynthetic pathway is immature and the demand for L-carnitine may exceed its endogenous biosynthesis (142) (143). Foetuses and neonates would therefore depend upon external sources of L-carnitine to meet their metabolic needs. During these periods, the mother's liver L-carnitine biosynthesis and intestinal Octn2 is up-regulated, and rat pups may receive most of their L-carnitine from their mother. Several studies suggested that foetal L-carnitine is derived from the mother via transplacental transfer of L-carnitine, which is supported by the observation that OCTN2 is expressed in human placenta (144). Agedependent changes in Octn2 transporter expression levels in rat kidney were reported previously in addition to the studies on intestinal Octn2 expression levels (91, 136). Foetal rat kidneys express Octn2 mRNA and the same transcript is present in all the ages studied. As previously reported, Octn2 mRNA abundance is up-regulated in kidney by maturation, mainly in the renal cortex (126, 145). These findings suggest that from the end of the gestation period to adulthood, Octn2 mediates renal Na⁺/L-carnitine transport and this corroborates the view that maturation increases the number of Octn2 transporters at the apical membrane.

The findings of ontogenic changes of intestinal L-carnitine uptake and Octn2 transporter expression correlate with the maturation of L-carnitine biosynthesis mechanisms. In the early stage of life, when the demand for systemic L-carnitine exceeds the endogenous capacity for its

biosynthesis, rat pups receive most of their L-carnitine from exogenous sources by active uptake by OCTN2 transporters. In the growing rat, however, the endogenous capacity for L-carnitine synthesis is increased sufficiently, and its intestinal Na^+/L -carnitine transport activity is no longer measurable. Therefore, in the same individual, up-regulation of the liver L-carnitine biosynthesis is accompanied by the down-regulation of its intestinal Na⁺/L-carnitine transport activity (143, 146). In isolated brush-border membrane vesicles (BBMV), OCTN2 transporter expression was increased significantly in the postnatal stage. Between the postnatal day 5 and 11, heart, renal and intestinal OCTN2 mRNA levels showed significant changes and the expression increased to 80% of its adult levels (126). The observed changes in activity of transporters and enzymes involved in L-carnitine biosynthesis demonstrate the significant maturation of Lcarnitine hemostasis in neonates during the postnatal day 1 and 20. In addition, evidence suggests the ontogeny of transporters and enzymes can be modified by various effects, even though expression is genetically programmed (147). Furthermore, intestinal membrane lipid composition, fluidity and activity of Na⁺-dependent D-glucose transport are affected by dietary fat. It is inferred that the modifications in normal neonatal health during neonatal development may influence the ontogeny of transporters and enzymes.

1.2.8 Inflammation and its effect on transporter expression and function

The immune system is primarily responsible for the control or eradication of pathophysiological conditions that are established in mammalian system by a disease-causing organism or by processes that elicit an inflammatory response (148). The response of the immune system to pathogenic and pathophysiological conditions is activation of a series of events denoted as the inflammatory/immune response. The inflammatory response is coordinated

by an array of diverse mediators originating from diverse cell types. There is a large body of evidence in pharmacology suggesting that changes associated with the inflammatory response are responsible for significant changes in drug disposition (149).

A considerable amount of attention has been given to the effect of inflammation on drug disposition mechanisms in recent years (150). In the adult, effects of inflammation on transporters involved in uptake and disposition of various nutrients, mainly L-carnitine and drugs have been investigated (151, 152). In recent studies, it is reported that administration of endotoxin significantly decreased bile flow due to the effect of an inflammation-mediated downregulation of hepatic organic anion and renal glucose transporters (153, 154). As well, interferon- γ (IFN- γ), a principle cytokine, is responsible for induction of the inflammatory response by increased expression of the di/tri-peptide transporter h-PEPT1 (SLC15A1) in cultured human intestinal cells (Caco-2) (155, 156). Pro-inflammatory cytokines, Tissue Necrosis Factor-Alpha (TNF)-alpha, Interklukin-6 (IL-6) and Interlukin-1 β (IL-1 β), decrease solute carrier (SLC) and multi drug resistant transporter (MRP) expression in primary human hepatocytes (157, 158). The expression profile of OCT1 (SLC22A1) is of particular interest because of its close relationship to OCTN family transporters (159, 160). OCT1 expression was decreased several fold when hepatocytes were exposed to IL-6 and IL-1 β . It is reported that one of the major components responsible for developing the inflammatory response, TNF- α , induced a sustained decrease in Ntcp, Oatp1/Oatp1a1, and Bsep mRNA expression as well as a transient effect on expression of multidrug resistance associated protein 2 (Mrp2) (161). Studies reported that the decrease in mRNA expression of Octn2 transporter in rat colon is a significant factor for development of inflammatory bowel disease (162). Many transporters have been shown to be down regulated with LPS administration and in inflammatory diseases. Moreover, the effects of inflammation on

various drug transporters and the pharmacokinetic consequences of altered drug transporter expression have undergone some investigation (163).

The identification of the complex relationship between inflammation and regulation of transporter expression is in its initial stages. However, evidence suggests the involvement of class II nuclear hormone receptors in transcriptional regulation in inflammatory conditions (164, 165). The effects of endotoxin treatment on transporter expression and the activity of corresponding transcription factors have been studied in detail (166, 167). Endotoxin treatment leads to down regulation of sodium dependent taurocholate cotransporter Ntcp (*Slc10a1*) protein expression, mRNA levels, transcription initiation, and reduces nuclear levels of its key transactivators, hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 (HNF-1; *TCF1*) and the nuclear receptor heterodimer retinoid X receptor:retinoic acid receptor (RXR:RAR) (168, 169). The mechanism of pro-inflammatory cytokine-regulated regulation of transporter expression has been clearly investigated (170, 171). However, the ability of the inflammatory stimulus to alter the ontogeny of enzymes and transporters involved in nutrient homeostasis in neonates has not received much attention.

1.3. Rationale and Purpose:

An important and yet to be answered question is the potential external factors that are likely to affect developmental programming of L-carnitine homeostasis. Many approaches are used to understand those factors involved in epigenetic regulation, but few studies evaluate importance of nutrition and macro- or micronutrients. Previous work in my laboratory assessed the impact of a drug on L-carnitine homeostasis pathways to provide perspective on the impact of exogenous factors on the maturation of L-carnitine homeostasis processes and the possible long-term results of a drug exposure on the maturing physiological system.

At present, very little information exists on the impact of disease on normal developmental programming. Inflammation is a common condition of neonatal disease and the adult literature clearly indicates that inflammation alters expression of various nutrient and xenobiotic transporters and enzymes. The purpose of this thesis is to resolve an important question, whether an inflammatory stimulus in neonates can cause significant changes in the ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis and change the maturing physiological processes involved in L-carnitine homeostasis. Regardless of the fact that we know much about L-carnitine homeostasis and biosynthesis and its physiological importance, we have much to learn about the mechanisms and regulatory signals of ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis mechanisms. Information about how factors associated with ontogeny change relative to each other under inflammatory conditions will offer an improved understanding of the processes involved in L-carnitine homeostasis and physiological maturation of organs crucially associated with fatty acid metabolism. The information which will be gathered from this research will have clinical significance.

4. Hypothesis and Objectives

At present, there is very little information on the potential ability of inflammation in neonates to cause alterations in the normal ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis mechanisms. The effect of inflammatory stimuli in neonates could differ depending on age, intensity of exposure, and the timing of that exposure during neonatal development. Such inflammatory stimulus effects may lead to adaptive approaches that alter the normal ontogenic pattern of Lcarnitine homeostasis in neonates. The overarching hypothesis of this thesis is as follows: **Hypothesis:** An inflammatory stimulus will alter the ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis pathways and this depends upon when the inflammatory stimulus occurs in postnatal development.

Objectives

- i. Evaluation of the effect of inflammation on Octn2 transporter expression in different age groups of neonates.
- ii. Evaluation of effect of inflammation on ontogeny and activity of enzymes involved in carnitine biosynthesis and whether this differs depending upon when in postnatal development the inflammatory stimulus occurs.

Chapter 2

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Animals:

Female Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats ordered at gestation day 14 (for pups at postnatal day 3, 7 and 14) (n=4 of each postnatal stage) were obtained from Charles River Canada (St. Constant, PQ) and were housed singly in a room temperature and humidity controlled facility $(22^{\circ}C \pm 2^{\circ}C)$ on a 12-hour light:dark cycle (0700 h – 1900 h). All rats had free access to food (Prolab® RMH 3000, Purina, Inc., Richmond, IN) and water throughout the study and were allowed a 7-day acclimatization period. All animal experimental procedures were approved by the University of Saskatchewan's Animal Research Ethics Board, and adhered to the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines for humane and animal use. A MilliQ Synthesis (Millipore, Bedford, MA) water purification system provided purified deionized water.

2.2 Materials

Sterile 15 mL and 50 mL polypropylene centrifuge tubes, 12 well plates, 96 well plates, eppendorf tubes, bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay kit, and 4 mL scintillation vials were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, Ontario, Canada). Quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (QRT-PCR) tubes and two-step SYBR green RT-PCR kits were acquired from Applied Biosystems (Foster City, California, USA). Ribonucleic acid (RNA) isolation mini kit and reverse transcription kit were purchased from Qiagen Inc. (Toronto, Ontario, Canada). Enzyme-Linked Immuno Sorbent Assay (ELISA) kits for tumour necrosis factor alpha were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Toronto, Ontario, Canada). Adenosine triphosphate (ATP), adenosine diphosphate (ADP), adenosine monophosphate (AMP), creatine (Cr), creatine phosphate (CrP), L-carnitine, horse serum, trypsin, phosphate buffered saline, and lipopolysaccharide (LPS: Escherichia coli strain O55:B5) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Toronto, Ontario, Canada). High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) grade methanol was purchased from Fisher Laboratories (Toronto, Ontario, CA). Highly purified deionized water was obtained from a MilliQ Synthesis water purification system (Millipore, Bedford, MA). All other solvents and reagents used were of the highest analytical grade available.

2.3 Acute LPS Administration in Rat Pups

Pregnant SD rats (14 days gestation) were obtained from Charles River and housed in pairs according to usual animal husbandry procedures. Two days prior to expected parturition, dams were housed individually. Pups culled from litters were humanely killed by isoflurane anaesthesia and exanguination by cardiac puncture. At postnatal day 3, 7 and 14, pups were removed from their dams for short duration (maximum 15 minutes). During this time body weight was measured. For each litter, half of the pups were randomly selected to receive an intraperitoneal injection (0.1 mL) of LPS and the other half saline (0.1 mL). LPS was administered at 0.1 mg/Kg bodyweight in 1 mL/Kg pyrogen-free saline. This dose (0.1 mg/Kg LPS) was reported in the literature to cause a febrile reaction in neonatal rat pups but not death due to endotoxaemia (172). The litter is considered an individual sample and four litters were used per postnatal treatment day (to give a sample size of n=4/group) and male/female pups from a single litter are considered a replicate within that individual sample.

At 3 and 16 hours post-LPS administration, pups were humanely killed following isoflurane anesthesia and blood, heart, intestine, kidney and liver rapidly collected. The dosing schedules were considered from results obtained from careful review of literature (173) and from a pilot study to monitor short-term and long-term inflammatory effects and developmental maturation of L-carnitine biosynthesis pathways in rat pups (postnatal day 3, 7 and 14). Blood

34

samples were collected in glass tubes and left for 1 hour at 37°C to allow them to clot. The serum was separated from blood by centrifugation at 1700 x g for 20 minutes @ 4°C, and transferred to new eppendorf tubes with storage at -20°C. All tissues were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C. Blood and tissues were pooled from 3-4 pups from a single dam at each time points such that the dam was considered the experimental unit.

2.4 Serum Tumour Necrosis Factor – Alpha (TNF-α) Levels

TNF-α activity in serum was measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Quantitative analysis of TNF-α was performed for pooled serum samples according to the manufacturer's protocol. In brief, specific antibodies for rat TNF-α was coated on 96-well plate well. In the first step, standard samples were added to wells to develop a standard curve to calculate the TNF-α levels in samples. Standard samples were washed four times with wash buffer and then biotinylated anti-rat TNF-α antibody was added. The washing step was repeated to wash biotinylated anti-rat TNF-α antibodies, after washing away unbound biotinylated antibody, HRP-conjugated streptavidin was pipetted into the wells. A 3,3',5,5'- tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate solution was added to the wells and after one more washing step was employed, the color develops in proportion to the amount of TNF-α bound. The Stop Solution (0.2M Sulphuric acid) changes the color from blue to yellow, and the intensity of the color was measured at 450 nm. The same procedure was employed for serum samples. The slope and coefficient of determination values were found to be 0.2089 and >0.986, respectively. The standard curve range was linear ($r^2 > 0.98$) between 0.082-20.00 ng/mL.

2.5 L-Carnitine Analysis in Serum and Heart

Free L-carnitine present in rat serum and heart samples was measured using an HPLC-UV based pre column derivatization method that was previously established in our lab (136, 174).

The pooled heart samples were homogenized with phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 7.4) and the homogenate was centrifuged (Accuspin Micro 17, Fisher Scientific) at 2500×g for 10 min at 4°C. Proteins present in the heart homogenate supernatant or in serum samples were precipitated using acetonitrile:methanol in 9:1 v/v ratio. For every 20 μ L heart homogenate or serum, 180 μ L of acetonitrile:methanol mixture was added. 300 mg mixture of Na₂HPO₄ and Ag₂O (9:1 wt/wt) and then 300 mg of KH_2PO_4 was added and vortexed for 1 hour. Derivatization reagent (40 mg/mL ρ -bromophenacyl bromide with 50 μ L 40% tetrabutylammonium hydroxide solution) was added into the organic extract. The reaction mixture was incubated at 60°C for 120 minutes in a water bath. The resulting reaction mixture was cooled immediately in cooled tap water and then centrifuged at $12,000 \times g$ for 15 min. Resulting final samples were filtered through micro filters into HPLC vials. L-Carnitine was analyzed using an Agilent 1200 HPLC system with Diode Array Detector (DAD), quaternary pump system and autosampler. Sample size of 10 µL was injected using an auto sampler onto a CN (cyano) column (HyperClone 5 µm, 250 × 4.6 mm, Phenomenex, Torrance, CA) with detection wavelength set at 260 nm. The mobile phase (90% acetonitrile/10% mM citrate phosphate buffer, pH 3) was delivered at a flow rate of 1 mL/min. Intra- and interassay accuracy and precision ranged from 0.4%- 9.6%.

2.5.1 HPLC method validation parameters

An HPLC method for free L-carnitine was validated using the standard addition method. The linearity of measurement was evaluated by analyzing different concentrations of the standard solutions of the L-carnitine hydrochloride in blank serum. The calibration curve was generated by subtracting peak area values obtained for standard samples from the peak area values of blank samples. The calibration curve was constructed by plotting average peak area against concentration and a regression equation was computed. The slope and coefficient of determination values were found to be 12.602 and >0.99, respectively. The standard curve range was linear ($r^2 > 0.99$) between 1.03-66.7 µmol/L.

2.6 Total mRNA Isolation and Quantitative RT-PCR Analysis

Total RNA was extracted using RNeasy Midi Kits according to the manufacturer's instructions. Frozen tissues were thawed for 15-20 min at room temperature. Cell lysate was homogenized with 350 μ L of buffer RLT containing beta-mercaptoethanol (β -ME). To this homogenate, 1 volume of 70% ethanol was added to precipitate the nucleic acids. The cell lysate was applied to the RNeasy Midi column, and a series of buffers were added to remove the cellular contaminants according to the manufacturer's instructions. The purified RNA was isolated from the column using a RNase-free water (30 μ L). The concentration and purity of the isolated RNA was determined by using Nanoview spectrophotometer (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Quebec, Canada). Total RNA was quantified by measuring the absorbance of a diluted RNA (RNA: RNase-free water) at 260 nm according to the following formula:

Concentration of RNA = $40 \,\mu g/mL \times A260 \times Dilution$ factor

RNA purity was assessed by measuring absorbance ratio (A260/A280) of a diluted sample of RNA (RNA: 10 mM TrisCl (pH-7.5)). Pure RNA has a ratio between 1.9- 2.1. All samples used for QRT-PCR were of high purity. Total RNA was stored at -80°C until analysis.

2.6.1 Primer Design

Gene sequences for Octn2 transporter, Tmlh, Cpt1b, Cpt2 and Bbh enzymes and β -actin were obtained from the National Center for Biotechnology Information Gene bank (NCBI) and specific primers were designed using Primer3 software (<u>http://frodo.wi.mit.edu/</u>) (Table 2.1). The primer pairs were selected using the following criteria: primer Tm (58–60°C), primer length (18–24 mer), limit repeats of guanosine and cytosine, and amplicon size (80–200 bp). Table 2.1. Forward and reverse primer sequences, amplicon size, and predicted melt temperatures (Tm) for gene expression analysis of various transporters and enzymes important in the maintenance of L-carnitine homeostasis using QRT-PCR.

Gene	Accession	Forward primer	Reverse primer	Tm	Base
	number			(°C)	pair
β-actin	NM_001101.3	GGGAAATCGTG	GCGGCAGTGGC	86.1	76
		CGTGCATT	CATCTC		
Octn2	NM_0006000.3	GATGGTGGAGA	GAGAGCATTTC	81.3	104
		AAGCCCAACGG	TGACTACACGC		
			AGG		
Bbh	NM_000576.2	ATTGAGCTGCA	CATTCTGCCCC	80.5	142
		TCCTCTGGT	ACCCTTCAT		
Tmlh	NM_001166496	CAGCCCTCCTAC	AGAGGTTCCTG	81.6	190
		AACTCCTG	GACGATGTG		
Cpt 1b	NM_145913.3	GGGCGTCAGAT	TTGAAGATTAG	79.3	91
		TTGGGGGTT	GAATGGGGAGC		
			G		
Cpt2	NM_178498.3	GCCAGGTGAAC	GCTGGTTTGGG	83.2	145
		CCTGCCACTTT	GCTGGZGTGT		

Octn2: Organic cation/carnitine transporter 2; Bbh: Gamma-butyrobetaine hydroxylase; Tmlh: Trimethyllysine hydroxylase; CPt1b: Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1b; Cpt2: Carnitine palmityolytransferase 2.

2.6.2 Validation of the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ Method

Primer pairs for QRT-PCR assays for Octn2 transporter, Tmlh, Cpt1b, Cpt2 and Bbh enzymes was initially validated to give PCR efficiency between 1.9 and 2.1 (standard curve using 3 serial dilutions of RNA). Serial dilutions of primer pairs (3 mM, 0.3 mM, 0.03 mM and 0.03 M) were tested against different concentrations (2000 µg/mL, 1000 µg/mL, 500 µg/mL and 250 µg/mL) of RNA samples. The best possible combination of primer concentration and template concentrations that produced the lowest Ct was selected. The PCR efficiency was determined from the slope of the standard curve generated with serial dilutions of cDNA template for each gene. It was calculated using the equation $Ex = (10^{-1/slope}) - 1$, where Ex is the PCR efficiency. A slope of -3.32 is indicative of a PCR efficiency of 1 (100%). The PCR products of respective genes were verified by 2% agarose gel electrophoresis. The reactions were further optimized for usage of the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method using β -actin as an endogenous standard. Only primers giving a PCR amplification close to 100% and the relative efficiencies between the target and β -actin that were approximately equal were used (i.e. the slope from log RNA concentration versus C_T were < 0.1). Fold differences in mRNA expression between control and treated samples were calculated.

QRT-PCR reactions consisted of two steps: 1) Reverse transcription (1 cycle at 48°C for 30 min) in order to make cDNA from RNA. 2) Real time PCR (Initial activation step (1 cycle at 95°C for 15 min) was followed by a three step thermal cycling (40 cycles; denaturing at 94°C for 15 s, annealing at 60°C for 30 s, and extension at 60°C for 30 s). Finally, a melt curve analysis from 65°C to 95°C at 0.5°C/s was performed.

2.7 Liver γ-Butyrobetaine Hydroxylase (Bbh) Enzyme Activity

 γ -Butyrobetaine hydroxylase (Bbh) enzyme portion was extracted from homogenates of liver samples by employing two successive centrifugation steps. 100 mg of liver tissue was first homogenized in 100 mL of homogenization buffer (300 mM sucrose, 1 mM EGTA, and 50 mM Tris, pH 7.5). In the first centrifugation step, the liver homogenate was centrifuged at 13,000 $\times g$ for 30 min at 4°C. The supernatant of the first centrifugation step was transferred to new tubes and then centrifuged at 100,000 $\times g$ for 1 h at 4°C. The cytosolic fraction containing Bbh was then subjected to dialysis (molecular weight cutoff of 12,000 Da, D9777, Sigma, USA), and was placed in 5 L of dialysis buffer (75 mM KCl, 0.1mM DTT and 0.5 mM EDTA in sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.4) in a glass beaker covered with parafilm for 12 hours at 4°C (175). The dialyzed samples (20 µL), which remains in dialysis tube, were tested for L-carnitine residue and the remaining dialysate was stored at -80°C for Bbh testing (176). The optimal protein concentration, substrate concentration, and reaction time to give linear product formation were determined for each age group. For determination of Bbh activity in rat pup livers, 1 mL reaction buffer consisting of 0.2 mM γ-butyrobetaine, 20 mM potassium chloride, 3 mM 2-oxoglutarate, 10 mM sodium ascorbate, 0.4 mg/mL catalase in 20 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) was prepared. The reaction was initiated by addition of 2 μ L ferrous ammonium sulfate (FAS) (final concentration was 0.25 mM) and 20 µL enzyme into 78 µL reaction buffer and incubated for 25 min at 37°C using a Boekel/Grant Orbital and Reciprocating Water Bath (Model ORS200, ExpotechUSA, Houston, TX). The reaction was then terminated by adding $10 \times$ volume of acetonitrile:methanol (9:1). The mixture was centrifuged at $13,000 \times g$ for 2 min and the supernatant was used for L-carnitine analysis by HPLC as described above.

2.8 Heart Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase (Cpt) Enzyme Activity

Heart Cpt enzyme activity was measured using the spectrophotometric method previously established in the laboratory (177). Frozen heart tissue was homogenized in 10% (wt/v) homogenization buffer (20 mM HEPES, 140 mM KCl, 10 mM EDTA and 5 mM MgCl₂, pH 7.4) supplemented with 3 mg nagarse using a Polytron homogenizer (Brinkmann Instruments, Rexdale, Canada). The homogenate was then centrifuged at $500 \times g$ for 10 min at 4°C. The supernatant was collected in new tubes and centrifuged at 9000 \times g for 35 min at 4°C. The pellet was then washed with the homogenization buffer without nagarse and centrifuged at 9000 $\times g$ for 35 min at 4°C. The pellets obtained from the above steps were resuspended in 200 μ L isolation buffer without nagarse. Protein concentration was measured using the Advanced Protein Assay kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories Canada, Mississauga, ON) with bovine serum albumin as standard. The optimal protein concentration and reaction time to give linear product formation were initially determined. To determine total Cpt activity 20 µg protein was assayed in 200 µL ml reaction buffer containing 20 mM HEPES, 1 mM EGTA, 220 mM sucrose, 40 mM KCl, 0.1 mM 5,5'-dithio-bis (2-nitrobenzoic acid) (DTNB), 1.3 mg/mL BSA, and 40 µM palmitoyl-CoA, pH 7.4. The reactions were initiated by adding 1 mM L-carnitine and read at 412 nm after 5 min incubation at 37°C using Synergy HT Multi- Mode Microplate Reader (Biotek instrument, USA).

Cpt2 activity was determined using the same reaction conditions as total Cpt except 10 μ L Cpt1 inhibitior, malonyl-CoA, was added into 200 μ L of the reaction mixtures to obtain a final concentration of 10 μ M. Cpt1 activity was calculated by subtracting the Cpt2 activity from the total Cpt activity. The Cpt activity was calculated as amount of CoASH released per min per mg protein, which is based on the 5-thio-2-nitrobenzoate formation from CoASH-DNTB reaction. The extinction coefficient for 5-thio-2-nitrobenzoate was 13.6 mM/cm (178, 179).

2.9 Heart High Energy Phosphate Substrate Determination

High energy phosphate substrate levels (adenosone triphosphate (ATP), adenosine diphosphate (ADP), and adenosine monophosphate (AMP)) and creatine compound levels (creatine (Cr) and creatine phosphate (CrP)) in heart samples were measured using HPLC-UV as described previously by Olkowski et al (180). The 1200 series High Pressure Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) from Agilent Technologies (Mississauga, ON, Canada) was employed to carry out the following assays. The HPLC system is consisted of a series 1200 quaternary pump with an online degasser, autosampler and diode array detector. Processed samples (10 μ L) were injected onto a C18 column (Pursuit XRs 5C18 250×3.0 mm) using auto sampler. The analytes were eluted under gradient conditions (table 5) at a flow rate of 0.7 mL/min and absorbance was monitored at 210 nm. The mobile phase was filtered through a 0.22 μ m Nylon filter (Pall Scientific, Mississauga, ON) and degassed in an ultrasonic bath for 30 min prior to use. The column was maintained at 20°C and washed with water:methanol (50:50) after every use.

Time	20 mM Phosphate	Methanol	Water	Flow rate
(min)	buffer (pH-5.5)			(mL/min)
0.0	100	0	0	0.7
17.0	100	0	0	0.7
17.5	0	95.0	5.0	0.4
19.5	0	95.0	5.0	0.4
20.0	0	5.0	95.0	0.4
22.0	0	5.0	95.0	0.4
23.0	100	0	0	0.5
28.0	100	0	0	0.7

Table 2.2. Gradient assay of HPLC-UV method to measure Cr, Cr P, ATP, ADP and AMP levels in rat pup heart sample.

For preparation of the standards, primary stock solutions for Cr, CrP, ATP, ADP, and AMP were prepared at a concentration of 1 mg/mL by dissolving in phosphate buffer (pH-5.5). From this stock solution, 10 µg/mL of Cr, CrP, ATP and ADP, and 20 µg/mL of AMP were prepared and diluted serially 2 times to get a standard curve for 6 different concentrations (10 to 0.312 µg/mL for Cr, CrP, ATP, & ADP, and 20 to 0.625 µg/mL for AMP). High quality control (HQC), mid quality control (MQC) and low quality control (LQC) samples at 8, 4, and 0.5 µg/mL for Cr, Cr P, ATP, and ADP and 16, 8, and 1.5 µg/mL for ATP were prepared using the stock solution independent of those concentrations used for the standard curve. Primary stock

solutions were stored at -20°C. The standard curve range was linear ($r^2 > 0.99$). Intra- and interday accuracy and precision was within 12%.

For preparation of the samples, 100 mg of heart samples were homogenized in 1 mL 0.7 M ice cold perchloric acid (MW 100.46) with a final concentration 100 mg/mL. The homogenate was centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatant was collected and neutralized with 2M potassium hydroxide to bring pH near to 7.0. The supernatant was then filtered through 0.45 μ m filter (Nonsterile Syringe Filter Nylon, Chromatographic Specialties Inc. Brockville, Ontario, Canada) and 10 μ L was injected onto a 3 μ Luna C-18 (Phenomenex, Torrance, CA) column using gradient flow conditions. Two mobile phase components used included 20 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and 100% methanol. The gradient was 100% phosphate buffer from 0–6.5 min, 100% methanol from 6.5–12.5 min, and 100% phosphate buffer from 12.5 to 25 min for column re-equilibration, which was sufficient to achieve stable baseline conditions. The high energy phosphate substrates including CrP, Cr, ATP, ADP, and AMP were monitored at 210 nm.

2.10 Statistical Analysis:

The data received from different analysis were reported as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). Comparisons for all the parameters at different ages (Postnatal Days) and time points (treatment time) were analyzed using two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test. The effects of LPS on rat pups in each treatment duration period were analyzed by two-way ANOVA. Data used for this purpose include serum L-carnitine levels, mRNA expression level of Octn2, Tmlh mRNA expression, and Bbh mRNA expression and activity in control rats from postnatal day (PD) 3, 7, and 14.

Chapter 3

3. Results

To determine whether acute inflammatory stimuli can change the normal ontogeny of Lcarnitine homeostasis in neonates, rat pups at different age (PD3, 7 and 14) were treated with LPS. mRNA and enzyme activity expression levels of important components of L-carnitine homeostasis were evaluated at 3 h and 16 h post injection to capture early mRNA expression changes (3 h) and changes in enzyme activity that takes time to occur (16 h) following the inflammatory stimulus. The results section is divided into two parts: i) Ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis, and ii) Effect of inflammation on L-carnitine homeostasis.

3.1 Ontogeny of L-Carnitine Levels, Octn2, Tmlh and Bbh

The ontogenesis of critical components of the L-carnitine homeostasis was examined by evaluation of serum and heart free L-carnitine concentration as well as mRNA expression of Octn2, Bbh and Tmlh in different tissues of rat pups of different postnatal ages. Compared to PD3, (average 20 mmol/L), serum free L-carnitine concentrations were significantly higher at PD7, (average 30 mmol/L), which was further increased to an average value of 34 mmol/L at PD14 (Figure 3.1). Heart free L-carnitine levels also increased with postnatal age, but showed a significant increase between PD7 and PD14 (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.1 Mean \pm SEM free L-carnitine concentration in rat serum (n = 4) at postnatal day 3, 7 and 14 (3 hour control – white bar; 3 hour treatment – light grey bar; 16 hour control – dark grey bar; 16 hour treatment – black bar). L-Carnitine concentration was determined using HPLC-UV as described in the text. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test was used for the comparisons between treatment groups and one-way ANOVA was used for the comparisons between ages and treatment. Bars with an asterick indicate significant difference relative to control, P<0.05.



Figure 3.2 Mean \pm SEM free L-carnitine concentration in rat heart samples (n = 4) at postnatal day 3, 7 and 14 (3 hour control – white bar; 3 hour treatment – light grey bar; 16 hour control – dark grey bar; 16 hour treatment – black bar). L-Carnitine concentration was determined using HPLC-UV as described in the text. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test was used for the comparisons between ages and treatment and bars with astericks indicate significant difference relative to controls, P<0.05.

Heart and kidney Octn2 expression was increased with increasing postnatal age. Kidney and heart Octn2 mRNA expression were increased 8- and 13-fold between PD 3 and PD 14, respectively, although increases in expression in heart between PD 3 and PD 7 were not statistically significant (Figure 3.3). In the intestine, Octn2 expression was low at PD 3 and expression decreased insignificantly at PD 7 (Figure 3.3). Kidney and liver Tmlh mRNA expression increased between PD 3 and PD 14 (Figure 3.4). Kidney Tmlh mRNA expression significantly increased 24-fold between PD 3 and PD 7, whereas liver Tmlh mRNA expression increased 18-fold between PD 7 and PD 14. Liver Bbh mRNA expression and activity significantly increased postnatally (Figure 3.5). Bbh mRNA expression levels were increased insignificantly between PD 3 ad PD 7; however, significant increase (35-fold), in Bbh mRNA expression was found at PD 14. Bbh enzyme activity showed 2.5 and 5 times increase at PD 7 and PD 14 relative to PD 3, respectively (P<0.05) (Figure 3.5 B).



Figure 3.3 Mean \pm SEM organic cation/carnitine transporter 2 (Octn2) (PD 3 – white bar; PD 7 light grey bar; PD 14 – black bar) mRNA expression levels in rat pup kidney, heart, and intestine at different postnatal ages (n=4). mRNA expression was normalized to β -actin. Bars with no star indicate no significant difference relative to PD 3, P<0.05.



Figure 3.4 Mean \pm SEM Tmlh (PD 3 – white bar; PD 7 light grey bar; PD 14 – black bar) mRNA expression levels in rat pup kidney and liver at different postnatal ages (n=4). mRNA expression was normalized to β -actin. Bars with no star indicate no significant difference relative to PD 3, P<0.05.



Postnatal Age (days, 3,7 and 14)



Figure 3.5 Mean \pm SEM Bbh (PD 3 – white bar; PD 7 light grey bar; PD 14 – black bar) mRNA expression levels in rat pup liver (A) and liver Bbh activity (B) at different postnatal ages (n=4). mRNA expression was normalized to β -actin. Bars with no star indicate no significant difference relative to PD 3, P<0.05.

3.2 TNF-α Levels:

To confirm the induction of inflammation, serum samples obtained from LPS and saline treated rat were evaluated for TNF- α activity. Serum TNF- α at 3 h was tested in treatment and control animals (Figure 3.6). Significant increases in serum TNF- α concentration were observed at 3 hours post LPS administered treatment groups at all age groups of rats. The TNF- α concentration was increased approximately 25-, 22-, and 42-times in 3 hours post LPS administered in PD 3, PD 7, and PD 14 rat pups, respectively.



Figure 3.6 Mean \pm SEM TNF- α concentrations in rat serum (Control Group – white bar; Treatment Group – grey bar). Student T-test was used for the comparisons between treatment groups and bars with three astericks indicate significant difference, P<0.05.

3.3 Effect of acute inflammation on ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis mechanism

LPS administration caused changes in free L-carnitine levels in serum and heart (Figure 3.1). Serum free L-carnitine levels were significantly decreased in all LPS treated groups of all postnatal age rat pups. LPS caused no change in free L-carnitine levels in 3 h post LPS administration treatment group of PD 14 rat pups. Free L-carnitine levels in heart were significantly decreased in all LPS treated groups of all postnatal age rat pups. LPS caused no change in heart free L-Carnitine levels in 3 h post LPS administration treatment group of PD 3 rat pups (Figure 3.2).

3.4 Effect of LPS on mRNA expression of Octn2 transporter in kidney, liver, heart and intestine

To examine the ontogenesis of critical components of the L-carnitine homeostasis pathway we conducted an mRNA expression of one of the main components of the homeostasis pathway, Octn2, in different tissues of rat pups at 3 h and 16 h post LPS administration at PD 3, PD 7 and PD 14. LPS treatment caused a significant decrease in kidney, heart and intestinal Ocnt2 expression (p<0.05) (Figure 3.7). Kidney Octn2 expression was decreased by 26, 25 and 24 percent relative to control in 16 h post LPS administration in rats at PD 3, PD 7, and PD 14, respectively (Figure 3.7 A). Except in the 3 h post LPS administration treatment group at PD14 rat pups, mRNA levels decreased by 20 percent, Octn2 expression levels in kidney did not show statistically significant changes in any remaining age groups (Figure 3.7 A). Intestinal Octn2 expression was decreased by 45, 75 and 60 percent at 3 h post LPS administration in PD 3, PD 7 and PD 14 rat pups, respectively (Figure 3.7 B). Intestinal Octn2 expression is decreased by 60, 75 and 90 percent in 16 h post LPS administration in rat pups at PD 3, PD 7 and PD 14, respectively. Octn2 expression levels in heart and intestine were decreased significantly in 3 h post LPS administration and 16 h post LPS administration treatment groups of all postnatal age groups (figure 7.3 C). Heart Octn2 expression was decreased by 25, 50 and 27 percent at 3 h post LPS administration in rat pups at PD 3, PD 7 and PD 14, respectively (Figure 7.3 C). Heart Octn2 expression was decreased by 40, 80 and 70 percent at 16 h post LPS administration in rat pups at PD 3, PD 7 and PD 14, respectively (Figure 3.7 C). Except in the 16 h post LPS administration treatment group for PD 7 and PD 14, where a 64 percent decrease in Octn2 mRNA expression levels was observed in liver, expression changes were not statistically

significant in both treatment groups (3 h post LPS administration and 16 h post LPS administration) at all postnatal ages (Figure 3.7 D).







Figure 3.7 Mean \pm SEM organic cation/carnitine transporter (Octn2) mRNA expression (white bar – control; light grey bar – 3 h post LPS administration; dark grey bar – 16 h control; black bar – 16 h post LPS administration) in rat kidney (panel A), intestine (panel B), heart (panel C), and liver (panel D) at postnatal day 3, 7 and 14 (n = 4). mRNA expression was normalized to β -actin and fold difference (FD) was determined by using ^{2- $\Delta\Delta$}CT method. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test was used for the comparisons between ages and treatments and bars with the same symbols indicate no significant difference, P<0.05.

3.5 Effect of LPS on mRNA expression and activity of Bbh in liver

LPS caused changes in Bbh mRNA expression levels and Bbh enzyme activity in all treatment groups (P<0.05) (Figure 3.8). Liver Bbh mRNA expression was decreased significantly (p<0.05) in all LPS treatment groups of all age groups, except in the 3 h post LPS treatment group at PD 3 and PD 14 (p>0.05) (Figure 3.8 A). Liver Bbh mRNA expression was significantly decreased by 32 and 25 percent in the 16 h post LPS treatment groups at PD 3 and PD 14, respectively, while it was significantly decreased 26 and 95 percent in both 3 h and 16 h post LPS treatment groups of PD 7, respectively. LPS caused no changes in liver Bbh activity in all treatment groups at PD 14 (Figure 3.8 B). At PD 3, LPS caused a significant decrease in Bbh activity in 3 h post LPS administration group (57 %) and in the 16 h post LPS administration treatment group (73 %). At PD 7, LPS only significantly decreased the 16 h post LPS administration treatment group (44 %) (Figure 3.8 B).





Figure 3.8 Mean \pm SEM rat liver gamma-butyrobetaine hydroxylase (Bbh) (A) mRNA expression and (B) activity at postnatal day 3, 7 and 14 (n = 4) (white bar – control; light grey bar – 13 h post LPS administration; dark gray bar – 16 h control; black bar – 16 h post LPS administration). mRNA expression was normalized to β -actin and fold differences (FD) were determined by using ^{2- $\Delta\Delta$}CT method. Bbh activity was measured by quantifying the conversion of γ -butyrobetaine to L-carnitine by HPLC-UV. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test was used for the comparisons between ages and treatments and bars with the same letters indicate no significant difference, P<0.05.

3.6 Effect of LPS on mRNA expression and activity of Tmlh in liver and kidney

LPS administration significantly decreased liver Tmlh mRNA expression levels in all age groups (P<0.05) (Figure 3.9 A). Liver Tmlh mRNA expression was decreased by 40 and 85 percent at 3 h and 16 h post LPS administration at PD 3, respectively. Liver Tmlh mRNA

expression was decreased by 30 and 90 percent at 3 h and 16 h post LPS administration at PD 7, respectively. Liver Tmlh mRNA expression was decreased by 60% at 3 h post LPS administration at PD 14. LPS caused no changes in kidney Tmlh mRNA expression in all treatment groups at PD 3 and at 3 h post LPS treatment group at PD 7 (Figure 3.9 B). Tmlh mRNA expression in kidney was decreased by 45% at 3 h post LPS administration in in 16 h post LPS administration treatment groups at PD 14, and by 90% at 16 h post LPS administration treatment group at PD 7 (Figure 3.9 B).



Figure 3.9 Mean \pm SEM mRNA expression of Tmlh in rat pups (in liver (A) and kidney (B)) at postnatal day 3, 7, and 14 (n = 4) (white bar – control; light grey bar – 3 h post LPS administration; dark gray bar – 16 h control; black bar – 16 h post LPS administration treatment). mRNA expression was normalized to β -actin and fold difference (FD) was determined by using 2- $\Delta\Delta$ CT method. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test was used for the comparisons between ages and treatment bars with astericks indicate significant difference relative to control, P<0.05.

3.7 Effect of LPS on mRNA expression and activity of Ct1b and Cpt2 in heart

LPS caused a significant increase (3.6 fold in 3 h post LPS administered group and 3.8 fold in 16 h post LPS administered group) in heart Cpt1b mRNA expression levels at PD 7 (Figure 3.10 A). Except in PD 7 treatment groups, heart Cpt1b mRNA expression levels did not show significant changes at all postnatal ages (figure 3.10 A). LPS caused no significant changes in heart Cpt2 mRNA expression in any of the treatment groups (figure 3.10 B)).




Figure 3.10 Mean \pm SEM mRNA expression of heart carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1b (Cpt1b) (A) and carnitine palmitoyltransferase 2 (B) in rat pups at postnatal day 3, 7, and 14 (n = 4) (white bar – control; light grey bar – 3 h post LPS administration; dark grey bar – 16 h control; black bar – 16 h post LPS administration). mRNA expression was normalized to β -actin and fold difference (FD) was determined by using ^{2- $\Delta\Delta$}CT method. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test was used for the comparisons between ages and bars with astericks indicate significant difference relative to control, P<0.05.

LPS caused no significant changes in heart Cpt1b and Cpt2 enzyme activity levels at PD 3, PD 7 and PD 14. (Figure 3.11).





Figure 3.11 Mean \pm SEM enzyme activity of heart carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1b (Cpt1b) (A) and carnitine palmitoyltransferase 2 (Cpt 2) (B) in rat pups at postnatal day 3, 7, and 14 (n = 4) (white bar – control; light grey bar – 3 h post LPS administration; dark gray – 16 h control; black bar – 16 h post LPS administration treatment). Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post

hoc test was used for the comparisons between ages and treatment and bars with asterisks indicate significant difference, P<0.05.

3.8 Effect of LPS on high energy phosphate substrate concentration in heart

Significant changes in heart creatine phosphate was observed in 16 h post LPS administered treatment groups in all age groups of rats. However, significant changes in heart creatine, ATP, and ADP levels were not observed in LPS treated rat pups. At 16 h post LPS administration, creatine phosphate was decreased by 34% in PD 3 rat pups, 25% in PD 7 rat pups, and 30% in PD 14 rat pups (Figure 3.12).









Figure 3.12 Mean \pm SEM heart high-energy phosphate substrate concentration in rat pups at postnatal day 3, 7 and 14 (n = 4) (white bar – control; light grey bar – 3 h post LPS administration; dark gray bar – 16 h control; black bar – 16 h post LPS administration treatment). The heart high energy phosphate substrate levels including creatine (Cr), creatine phosphate (CrP), ATP, and ADP were measured with HPLC-UV method as described by Olkowski et al. [24]. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test was used for the comparisons between ages and treatment and bars with an asterisk indicate significant difference, P<0.05. (Cr – creatine; CrP -creatine phosphate).

Chapter 4

4. Discussion

The nutritional requirements for normal growth and development are often affected by ontogenic processes of several nutritional pathways during postnatal development. The developmental changes in these nutrient homeostasis pathways are usually genetically programmed (181). However, these processes can be affected by exogenous factors such as dietary components, environmental factors including chemicals, pathological conditions, and therapeutic drugs. Since my laboratory is interested in understanding how external factors influence the ontogeny of important nutrient homeostatic processes, my thesis work involved the evaluation of the effect of acute inflammation on the developmental maturation of L-carnitine homeostasis pathways.

I used the rat in my work as a previous study in the lab provided the ground work for the ontogeny of a number of L-carnitine homeostasis mechanisms in the rat (136). Previous studies on evaluation of key pathways in the L-carnitine homeostasis pathway provided the basis from which I conducted further evaluations regarding the effects of pathological factors on L-carnitine status during postnatal development and possible long-term consequences of any disturbance in the normal ontogeny of these pathways (182). My laboratory's previous study did not assess potential gender effects on the ontogeny of and effects of a drug on L-carnitine homeostasis pathway development. Ethical considerations precluded an evaluation of gender effects in the current study as more that twice as many animals would be necessary in the study design. This may represent an important limitation of study design that we acknowledged at the start of the study. The information gleaned from my thesis work will begin the journey in understanding

how exogenous factors may alter maturation and the possible long-term consequences of such alterations.

As mammalian foetuses transition to extrauterine life, the umbilical supply of essential nutrients is cut off, including glucose which serves as the major energy fuel of the fetus. During the neonatal period, fatty acid oxidation becomes the main source of energy for a number of tissues (183). A sufficient supply of L-carnitine is essential for efficient mitochondrial fatty acid utilization, as this nutrient facilitates the movement of long-chain fatty acids across the mitochondrial membrane making them available for β -oxidation. The foetus liver stores significant levels of L-carnitine during late gestation, and such stores assure adequate levels in the immediate postpartum period (136). However, these tissue stores quickly deplete, and the L-carnitine homeostasis mechanisms begin to undergo maturational changes to ensure the physiological system has adequate L-carnitine to meet the energy needs of various tissues.

Postnatal increases in serum free L-carnitine is reported in the literature and these increases correlate with maturation of a number of enzymes and transporter systems that critically determine L-carnitine levels in the body (136). Previous studies on evaluation of key pathways in the L-carnitine homeostasis pathway (136) provided a basis from which we conducted further evaluations regarding the effects of inflammation on L-carnitine status during postnatal development and this concept may be extended to evaluate possible long-term consequences of any disturbance in the normal ontogeny of these pathways. This corroboration was essential as it shows ability to reproduce previous work in the laboratory and suggests that outcomes of my evaluations regarding LPS administration have important value. Since very little work has been published in the literature regarding the effects of inflammation on the transporters and ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis, I have no basis for comparison. One study conducted in my

laboratory evaluated the effect of inflammation on activity of nutrient transporter (manuscript submitted), but my thesis work represents novel information. I was not able to repeat the evaluations to ensure reproducibility of experimental outcomes during my graduate program.

Lower serum free L-carnitine levels in the early postnatal period is, in part, due to the limited capacity for endogenous biosynthesis by the young neonate (135). As noted in other studies (90), my study showed that hepatic γ -Bbh and Tmlh mRNA expression and γ -Bbh activity was significantly lower at early postnatal development in rat pups, consistent with the lower serum free L-carnitine concentrations observed at younger neonatal ages. The increase in serum free L-carnitine levels in rat pups with advancing age was matched with the maturation of hepatic γ -Bbh and Tmlh, suggesting that enhancements in endogenous L-carnitine biosynthesis contributes, in part, to the postnatal increase in L-carnitine levels in the body. However, evaluation of other critical mechanisms responsible for L-carnitine homeostasis suggests that maturation of other processes, namely renal reabsorption of L-carnitine, additionally contributes to the postnatal rise in serum L-carnitine.

Absorption of dietary sources of L-carnitine requires the function of several transporter systems expressed at the gastrointestinal epithelial barrier. Expression of duodenal Octn2 did not change with postnatal development. This was not consistent with increases in Octn2 expression noted in the literature, but could be the result of different rat strains (Sprague Dawley vs. Wistar) or different portion of the small intestine (jejunum or ileum vs. duodenum) (143). I did not evaluate protein expression levels nor measure transporter activity in the intestine; hence, I cannot conclude with certainty whether the lack of changes in mRNA expression with development may suggest that the absorptive capacity of L-carnitine by these transporter systems remains unchanged.

In my study renal Octn2 expression was increased during postnatal development in the rat, which was consistent with my laboratory's previous study and the literature (184). The increase in renal Octn2 expression was matched with the postnatal increase in serum L-carnitine levels. Hence, in addition to maturation of endogenous biosynthesis, maturation of renal Octn2 also has a significant role in the postnatal pattern of serum L-carnitine development. Overall, our data suggests the developmental changes in hepatic γ -Bbh and Tmlh expression and renal Octn2 expression may contribute to the postnatal increase in serum L-carnitine levels.

The highest concentrations of L-carnitine are primarily found in serum (136). In my study, heart L-carnitine levels increased during postnatal development (Figure 3.2). Evaluation of the expression of Octn2 in pup heart tissue also suggested that this postnatal increase corresponds to enhanced heart Octn2 expression with advancing postnatal age. The neonatal and adult heart relies on fatty acids as a principal energy substrate (185). Hence, L-carnitine has a significant role in energy production in neonatal cardiac tissue. The dramatic increase in fatty acid oxidation rates in early heart development after birth has been attributed to an increase in L-carnitine levels. Although we observed a significant increase in L-carnitine levels in the heart with advancing age of the neonate, cardiac ATP levels remained constant through postnatal development. My studies showed a trend towards increasing ATP levels but this was not significant. Interestingly, I found that Cpt1b and Cpt2 enzyme levels as well as creatine phosphate and creatine levels increased with postnatal development, which was consistent with my laboratory's previous study (136). Unfortunately, I was unable to determine AMP levels with reliability due to HPLC assay interference as such information is important in understanding the energy charge of a tissue. These ontogenic changes suggest an increasing capacity of the heart to utilize fatty acids for energy production with advancing neonatal age. This maturation does

suggest that exogenous impacts (such as disease and drugs) that influence these systems, either through direct inhibition or altered genetic regulation, may have significant impacts on the ability of the heart to generate ATP through fatty acid oxidation. The overall significance of such developmental changes is not clear and requires investigation.

In addition to my evaluation of the ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis mechanisms, the main objective of the work carried out in my thesis was to evaluate the effect of inflammation, a significant clinical factor, on the ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis mechanisms in neonates. The pathogenesis of inflammation due to the administration of LPS may involve different inflammatory stimuli, which in turn may alter the natural ontogenic process of L-carnitine homeostasis. Specifically, inflammation-mediated alteration in the expression and function of Octn2, enzymes involved in endogenous biosynthesis, and the enzymes involved in mitochondrial shuttling of acylcarnitines may have significant consequences on serum and tissue levels of L-carnitine and on ability of organs to utilize fatty acids for ATP generation. In my study, I conducted a systematic comparison of the gene expression and activity, where possible, of Octn2, Bbh, Tmlh, Cpt 1b and Cpt 2 enzymes between control and LPS treated rat pups at three different postnatal ages. LPS is a commonly employed substance to elicit an inflammatory response (186), and I utilized a neonatal rat inflammatory model well established in the literature to meet this objective (173). We have used SD rats at postnatal day 3, 7 and 14, as these ages provide several advantages when monitoring the ontogenic changes of L-carnitine mechanisms. In the rat, endogenous biosynthesis matures at PD 8 (91, 187, 188). Hence, these age groups capture the ontogeny of the L-carnitine biosynthetic enzymes and other key L-carnitine homeostasis mechanisms prior to and following maturation of endogenous L-carnitine biosynthesis. My findings can be used to postulate and predict the potential outcomes of the

effect of inflammation on ontogenic mechanisms. However, my work cannot elucidate the exact impact of the changes caused by an inflammatory stimulus and their overall contribution to Lcarnitine homeostasis during development and further studies will be required to clarify contributions.

Several findings were generated in my work, which are summarized in the following discussion. My thesis work suggests that development of inflammation in neonates can alter the normal ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis. My findings suggest that inflammation has statistically significant effects on the main elements of L-carnitine homeostasis and that inflammation is likely to have significant clinical relevance and relevance to the overall development of the neonate as it proceeds towards adult life stages.

Acute inflammation caused a significant decrease in free L-carnitine levels in serum and heart tissue. Based on the results obtained from Octn2 gene expression experiments, the decrease in mRNA expression levels of renal and intestinal Octn2 might be the principle cause of depletion of serum and heart L-carnitine levels. Renal reabsorption of L-carnitine from the urinary filtrate plays a significant role in maintenance of L-carnitine levels in the body. Almost 95% of the excreted L-carnitine is reabsorbed by transporters expressed in the proximal tubules of the kidney with Octn2 as the principal transporter involved in this process (189, 190). In my study renal Octn2 expression decreased following LPS administration in the rat pup. The decrease in renal Octn2 expression corresponded strongly with decrease in serum L-carnitine levels suggesting that renal Octn2 plays a significant role in the postnatal pattern of serum L-carnitine development. In addition to kidney Ocnt2 levels, gene expression levels of intestinal Octn 2 might be an additional cause of the reduction in serum L-carnitine concentration. Absorption of dietary L-carnitine requires the function of several transporter systems expressed

at the gastrointestinal epithelial barrier. Expression levels of duodenal Octn2 were decreased with LPS administration and this might result in the decrease in L-carnitine absorption from the milk following suckling. The decrease in heart Octn2 gene expression (in conjunction with lower serum L-carnitine levels) likely explains the reduction in heart L-carnitine levels with LPS administration, since Octn2 mediates the uptake of L-carnitine into heart tissue.

My study corroborated previous investigations in that hepatic γ -Bbh mRNA expression and activity levels were low in the first days of life and matured with postnatal age (187, 188). The maturation of hepatic γ -Bbh contributes to the postnatal increase in L-carnitine levels in the body. However, my study on the effect of acute inflammation suggests that maturation of hepatic γ -Bbh was disturbed and this might play a significant role in the reduction of serum L-carnitine levels. Although inflammation caused alterations in hepatic γ -Bbh mRNA levels at all three postnatal age groups, hepatic γ -Bbh enzyme activities were not affected at PD 14. These results correlate with the serum L-carnitine levels at PD 14 post LPS administration suggesting that the γ -Bbh enzyme had matured to maximum levels prior to PD 14. Hepatic and renal Tmlh mRNA expression levels were significantly lower at early postnatal development in rat pups and matured with postnatal age. My study on the effect of acute inflammation suggests that maturation of hepatic and renal Tmlh mRNA expression changed with an inflammatory stimulus at all postnatal age groups. Without evaluation of Tmlh activity, it is difficult to speculate whether reduction in Tmlh mRNA expression translates into reductions in Tmlh activity. The literature suggests Tmlh is a rate-determining enzyme in the biosynthesis of L-carnitine (191). Consequently, any reduction in Tmlh activity following inflammation may result in a lowered capacity to synthesize L-carnitine *de novo*. This could contribute to inflammation mediated reductions in serum L-carnitine levels noted in my study.

Since LPS causes differential changes in transporters that mediate the transport of critical substrates used in the generation of cellular energy, I next evaluated whether such changes could result in differences in mitochondrial ATP production. LPS significantly decreased CrP and caused a non-significant decrease in ADP levels. Reductions in CrP is generally considered a pathological indicator. Interestingly, in a previous study in the lab, chronic cefepime administration (cefepime is a competitive inhibitor of Octn2) caused histopathological changes in the heart at an early postnatal age, but not at older postnatal ages (136). This study also indicated reductions in CrP with chronic cefepime administration. Consequently, reductions in heart CrP may suggest early pathological changes with LPS administration. Furthermore, the decreased expression of Octn2 in LPS treated rats may suggest a reduction in the intracellular supply of L-carnitine and reduction in fatty acid oxidation. To maintain cellular ATP levels, heart tissue may have to increase glycolysis (and thus oxidative phosphorylation) to compensate for the lowered energy production by fatty acid oxidation. This may explain the minimum changes in ATP levels in LPS challenged rats.

Based on the results obtained from the present study, inflammation shows time dependent effect on the ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis in early neonatal stages. The overall results from the current study suggests that LPS induced inflammation has profound effect on ontogeny of L-carnitine homeostasis in early postnatal stages (PD 3 and PD 7). Since most of the elements in L-carnitine homeostasis are undergoing ontogeny before PD 14, inflammation caused less effects on PD 14 rats when compared to earlier postnatal age groups.

L-carnitine homeostasis pathways underwent significant ontogenesis during postnatal development in the rat. However, the exact relationship between these pathways and their contribution to L-carnitine homeostasis during development is not completely known and further

studies are required to clarify their contributions. Such a clarification is necessary to understand the impact of exogenous and endogenous factors on L-carnitine status during development.

4.1 Future Directions

- The individual role of pro-inflammatory cytokines in LPS induced inflammation and its role in modulating the transporter expression at different stages of L-carnitine ontogenesis will be known by performing *in vitro* studies with radiolabelled substrates.
- More experiments should be carried out to estimate the time required for translational changes in mRNA to provide a clearer picture on dosing and time elapse in similar experiments in future.
- Experiments to assess cardiac oxygen consumption and high energy substrate levels should be carried for understand how inflammation modulates substrate energy levels and L-carnitine dependent energy producing pathways at the molecular level.
- Radiolabelled studies are required to assess the Octn2 transporter activity in heart and kidney to determine whether inflammation-mediated reduction in transporter mRNA expression correlates with reduction in transporter activity.
- In the neonate, my work suggested that inflammation resulted in changes in L-carnitine homeostasis pathways depending on timing and duration of inflammation to postnatal age. However, whether these changes are permanent or transient are unknown. Future studies are needed to investigate the potential for metabolic programming of L-carnitine and other nutrient homeostasis pathways following inflammation and the possible long-term consequences of such interactions on the risk for adult onset disease.

• Separate experiments of similar kind should be conducted on male and female animals to classify unknown functional differences between the two genders.

References

- Panter RA, Mudd JB. Carnitine levels in some higher plants. FEBS Letters. 1969;5(2):169-70.
- 2. Kleber HP. Bacterial carnitine metabolism. FEMS Microbiology Letters. 1997;147(1):1-9.
- Bremer J. Carnitine--metabolism and functions. Physiological Reviews. 1983;63(4):1420-80.
- Sandor A, Kispal G, Melegh B, Alkonyi I. Ester composition of carnitine in the perfusate of liver and in the plasma of donor rats. European Journal of Biochemistry. 1987;170(1-2):443-5.
- Calvani M, Reda E, Arrigoni-Martelli E. Regulation by carnitine of myocardial fatty acid and carbohydrate metabolism under normal and pathological conditions. Basic Research in Cardiology. 2000;95(2):75-83.
- Fritz IB, Yue KT. Long-Chain Carnitine Acyltransferase and the Role of Acylcarnitine Derivatives in the Catalytic Increase of Fatty Acid Oxidation Induced by Carnitine. Journal of Lipid Research. 1963;4:279-88.
- 7. Barraclough CA, Gorski RA. Evidence that the hypothalamus is responsible for androgeninduced sterility in the female rat. Endocrinology. 1961;68:68-79.
- 8. McMillen IC, Robinson JS. Developmental origins of the metabolic syndrome: prediction, plasticity, and programming. Physiological Reviews. 2005;85(2):571-633.
- 9. Langley-Evans SC. Developmental programming of health and disease. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2006;65(1):97-105.

- Armitage JA, Taylor PD, Poston L. Experimental models of developmental programming: consequences of exposure to an energy rich diet during development. Journal of Physiology. 2005;565(Pt 1):3-8.
- 11. Godfrey KM, Inskip HM, Hanson MA. The long-term effects of prenatal development on growth and metabolism. Seminars in Reproductive Medicine. 2011;29(3):257-65.
- Suderman M, McGowan PO, Sasaki A, Huang TC, Hallett MT, Meaney MJ, et al. Conserved epigenetic sensitivity to early life experience in the rat and human hippocampus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2012;109 Suppl 2:17266-72.
- 13. Fewtrell MS, consortium E. Session 6: Infant nutrition: future research developments in Europe EARNEST, the early nutrition programming project: EARly Nutrition programming - long-term Efficacy and Safety Trials and integrated epidemiological, genetic, animal, consumer and economic research. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2007;66(3):435-41.
- Junien C. Impact of diets and nutrients/drugs on early epigenetic programming. Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease. 2006;29(2-3):359-65.
- Martinez JA, Cordero P, Campion J, Milagro FI. Interplay of early-life nutritional programming on obesity, inflammation and epigenetic outcomes. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2012;71(2):276-83.
- Hanson M, Godfrey KM, Lillycrop KA, Burdge GC, Gluckman PD. Developmental plasticity and developmental origins of non-communicable disease: theoretical considerations and epigenetic mechanisms. Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology. 2011;106(1):272-80.

- 17. Nathanielsz PW. Animal models that elucidate basic principles of the developmental origins of adult diseases. ILAR Journal. 2006;47(1):73-82.
- Porrello ER, Widdop RE, Delbridge LM. Early origins of cardiac hypertrophy: does cardiomyocyte attrition programme for pathological 'catch-up' growth of the heart? Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology & Physiology. 2008;35(11):1358-64.
- Sinclair KD, Lea RG, Rees WD, Young LE. The developmental origins of health and disease: current theories and epigenetic mechanisms. Society of Reproduction and Fertility supplement. 2007;64:425-43.
- Fall CH. Fetal malnutrition and long-term outcomes. Nestle Nutrition Institute workshop Series. 2013;74:11-25.
- 21. Delisle H. [Foetal programming of nutrition-related chronic diseases]. Sante. 2002;12(1):56-63.
- Forsdahl A. Are poor living conditions in childhood and adolescence and important risk factor for arteriosclerotic heart disease? International Journal of Rehabilitation Research. 1979;2(2):238-9.
- Fall CH. The fetal and early life origins of adult disease. Indian Pediatrics. 2003;40(5):480-502.
- 24. Guilloteau P, Zabielski R, Hammon HM, Metges CC. Adverse effects of nutritional programming during prenatal and early postnatal life, some aspects of regulation and potential prevention and treatments. Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology. 2009;60 Suppl 3:17-35.

- Allegaert K, Verbesselt R, Naulaers G, van den Anker JN, Rayyan M, Debeer A, et al. Developmental pharmacology: neonates are not just small adults. Acta Clinica Belgica. 2008;63(1):16-24.
- 26. Mott GE, McMahan CA, Kelley JL, Farley CM, McGill HC, Jr. Influence of infant and juvenile diets on serum cholesterol, lipoprotein cholesterol, and apolipoprotein concentrations in juvenile baboons (Papio sp.). Atherosclerosis. 1982;45(2):191-202.
- 27. Owen CG, Whincup PH, Kaye SJ, Martin RM, Davey Smith G, Cook DG, et al. Does initial breastfeeding lead to lower blood cholesterol in adult life? A quantitative review of the evidence. American journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2008;88(2):305-14.
- Chmurzynska A. Fetal programming: link between early nutrition, DNA methylation, and complex diseases. Nutrition Reviews. 2010;68(2):87-98.
- Burdge GC, Lillycrop KA. Nutrition, epigenetics, and developmental plasticity: implications for understanding human disease. Annual Review of Nutrition. 2010;30:315-39.
- Mathers JC, McKay JA. Epigenetics potential contribution to fetal programming. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. 2009;646:119-23.
- 31. Armitage JA, Khan IY, Taylor PD, Nathanielsz PW, Poston L. Developmental programming of the metabolic syndrome by maternal nutritional imbalance: how strong is the evidence from experimental models in mammals? Journal of Physiology. 2004;561(Pt 2):355-77.
- 32. Barker DJ, Clark PM. Fetal undernutrition and disease in later life. Reviews of Reproduction. 1997;2(2):105-12.

- Roseboom TJ, van der Meulen JH, Ravelli AC, Osmond C, Barker DJ, Bleker OP. Effects of prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine on adult disease in later life: an overview. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 2001;185(1-2):93-8.
- 34. Meaney MJ, Szyf M. Environmental programming of stress responses through DNA methylation: life at the interface between a dynamic environment and a fixed genome. Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience. 2005;7(2):103-23.
- Symonds ME, Stephenson T, Gardner DS, Budge H. Tissue specific adaptations to nutrient supply: more than just epigenetics? Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. 2009;646:113-8.
- Symonds ME, Gardner DS. Experimental evidence for early nutritional programming of later health in animals. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care. 2006;9(3):278-83.
- Barker DJ. In utero programming of cardiovascular disease. Theriogenology. 2000;53(2):555-74.
- Gallou-Kabani C, Junien C. Nutritional epigenomics of metabolic syndrome: new perspective against the epidemic. Diabetes. 2005;54(7):1899-906.
- Junien C, Gallou-Kabani C, Vige A, Gross MS. [Nutritional epigenomics of metabolic syndrome]. Medecine Sciences. 2005;21 Spec No:44-52.
- 40. Broekman BF. Stress, vulnerability and resilience, a developmental approach. European Journal of Psychotraumatology. 2011;2.
- 41. Kiefer JC. Epigenetics in development. Developmental Dynamics. 2007;236(4):1144-56.
- 42. Sheldon CC, Finnegan EJ, Rouse DT, Tadege M, Bagnall DJ, Helliwell CA, et al. The control of flowering by vernalization. Current Opinion in Plant Biology. 2000;3(5):418-22.

- 43. Hales CN, Barker DJ. Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: the thrifty phenotype hypothesis. Diabetologia. 1992;35(7):595-601.
- 44. Weaver IC, Cervoni N, Champagne FA, D'Alessio AC, Sharma S, Seckl JR, et al. Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior. Nature Neuroscience. 2004;7(8):847-54.
- 45. Weaver IC. Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior and pharmacological intervention. Nature versus nurture: let's call the whole thing off. Epigenetics. 2007;2(1):22-8.
- 46. Sebert S, Sharkey D, Budge H, Symonds ME. The early programming of metabolic health: is epigenetic setting the missing link? American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2011;94(6 Suppl):1953S-8S.
- Galic MA, Riazi K, Heida JG, Mouihate A, Fournier NM, Spencer SJ, et al. Postnatal inflammation increases seizure susceptibility in adult rats. Journal of Neuroscience. 2008;28(27):6904-13.
- 48. Selevan SG, Kimmel CA, Mendola P. Identifying critical windows of exposure for children's health. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2000;108 Suppl 3:451-5.
- Huisman M, Koopman-Esseboom C, Fidler V, Hadders-Algra M, van der Paauw CG, Tuinstra LG, et al. Perinatal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and dioxins and its effect on neonatal neurological development. Early Human Development. 1995;41(2):111-27.
- 50. Olshan AF, Anderson L, Roman E, Fear N, Wolff M, Whyatt R, et al. Workshop to identify critical windows of exposure for children's health: cancer work group summary. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2000;108 Suppl 3:595-7.

- 51. Anderson LM, Diwan BA, Fear NT, Roman E. Critical windows of exposure for children's health: cancer in human epidemiological studies and neoplasms in experimental animal models. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2000;108 Suppl 3:573-94.
- 52. Pryor JL, Hughes C, Foster W, Hales BF, Robaire B. Critical windows of exposure for children's health: the reproductive system in animals and humans. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2000;108 Suppl 3:491-503.
- Lucas A. Programming by early nutrition: an experimental approach. Journal of Nutrition. 1998;128(2 Suppl):401S-6S.
- 54. Newbold RR, Jefferson WN, Padilla-Banks E. Prenatal exposure to bisphenol a at environmentally relevant doses adversely affects the murine female reproductive tract later in life. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2009;117(6):879-85.
- 55. Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Bourguignon JP, Giudice LC, Hauser R, Prins GS, Soto AM, et al. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: an Endocrine Society scientific statement. Endocrine Reviews. 2009;30(4):293-342.
- Stephens FB, Constantin-Teodosiu D, Greenhaff PL. New insights concerning the role of carnitine in the regulation of fuel metabolism in skeletal muscle. Journal of Physiology. 2007;581(Pt 2):431-44.
- 57. Vaz FM, Wanders RJ. Carnitine biosynthesis in mammals. Biochemical Journal. 2002;361(Pt 3):417-29.
- Sharma S, Black SM. Carnitine homeostasis, mitochondrial function, and cardiovascular disease. Drug Discovery Today. 2009;6(1-4):e31-e9.
- 59. Rebouche CJ. Carnitine function and requirements during the life cycle. FASEB Journal. 1992;6(15):3379-86.

- 60. Bremer J. The role of carnitine in intracellular metabolism. Journal of Clinical Chemistry and Clinical Biochemistry. 1990;28(5):297-301.
- Osmundsen H, Bremer J, Pedersen JI. Metabolic aspects of peroxisomal beta-oxidation. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1991;1085(2):141-58.
- 62. Sharma S, Sun X, Rafikov R, Kumar S, Hou Y, Oishi PE, et al. PPAR-gamma regulates carnitine homeostasis and mitochondrial function in a lamb model of increased pulmonary blood flow. PloS One. 2012;7(9):e41555.
- 63. Tamai I, China K, Sai Y, Kobayashi D, Nezu J, Kawahara E, et al. Na(+)-coupled transport of L-carnitine via high-affinity carnitine transporter OCTN2 and its subcellular localization in kidney. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 2001;1512(2):273-84.
- 64. Grube M, Meyer zu Schwabedissen HE, Prager D, Haney J, Moritz KU, Meissner K, et al. Uptake of cardiovascular drugs into the human heart: expression, regulation, and function of the carnitine transporter OCTN2 (SLC22A5). Circulation. 2006;113(8):1114-22.
- Hoppel CL. Carnitine and carnitine palmitoyltransferase in fatty acid oxidation and ketosis.
 Federation Proceedings. 1982;41(12):2853-7.
- 66. Drynan L, Quant PA, Zammit VA. Flux control exerted by mitochondrial outer membrane carnitine palmitoyltransferase over beta-oxidation, ketogenesis and tricarboxylic acid cycle activity in hepatocytes isolated from rats in different metabolic states. Biochemical Journal. 1996;317 (Pt 3):791-5.
- 67. McGarry JD, Brown NF. The mitochondrial carnitine palmitoyltransferase system. From concept to molecular analysis. European Journal of Biochemistry. 1997;244(1):1-14.
- Hsiao YS, Jogl G, Esser V, Tong L. Crystal structure of rat carnitine palmitoyltransferase II (CPT-II). Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2006;346(3):974-80.

- Pande SV. A mitochondrial carnitine acylcarnitine translocase system. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1975;72(3):883-7.
- 70. Pande SV, Parvin R. Carnitine-acylcarnitine translocase catalyzes an equilibrating unidirectional transport as well. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1980;255(7):2994-3001.
- 71. Edwards YH, Chase JF, Edwards MR, Tubbs PK. Carnitine acetyltransferase: the question of multiple forms. European Journal of Biochemistry. 1974;46(1):209-15.
- 72. Solberg HE. Acyl group specificity of mitochondrial pools of carnitine acyltransferases.Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1974;360(2):101-12.
- 73. Miyazawa S, Ozasa H, Osumi T, Hashimoto T. Purification and properties of carnitine octanoyltransferase and carnitine palmitoyltransferase from rat liver. Journal of Biochemistry. 1983;94(2):529-42.
- 74. Bieber LL, Emaus R, Valkner K, Farrell S. Possible functions of short-chain and mediumchain carnitine acyltransferases. Federation Proceedings. 1982;41(12):2858-62.
- Brass EP, Hoppel CL. Relationship between acid-soluble carnitine and coenzyme A pools in vivo. Biochemical Journal. 1980;190(3):495-504.
- 76. Bieber LL. Carnitine. Annual Review of Biochemistry. 1988;57:261-83.
- Ramsay RR, Arduini A. The carnitine acyltransferases and their role in modulating acyl-CoA pools. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics. 1993;302(2):307-14.
- Madamanchi NR, Runge MS. Mitochondrial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. Circulation Research. 2007;100(4):460-73.
- 79. Sharma S, Sun X, Agarwal S, Rafikov R, Dasarathy S, Kumar S, et al. Role of carnitine acetyl transferase in regulation of nitric oxide signaling in pulmonary arterial endothelial cells. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2012;14(1):255-72.

- 80. Engel AG, Angelini C. Carnitine deficiency of human skeletal muscle with associated lipid storage myopathy: a new syndrome. Science. 1973;179(4076):899-902.
- Kerner J, Hoppel C. Genetic disorders of carnitine metabolism and their nutritional management. Annual Review of Nutrition. 1998;18:179-206.
- Stanley CA. New genetic defects in mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation and carnitine deficiency. Advances in Pediatrics. 1987;34:59-88.
- Spaniol M, Brooks H, Auer L, Zimmermann A, Solioz M, Stieger B, et al. Development and characterization of an animal model of carnitine deficiency. European Journal of Biochemistry. 2001;268(6):1876-87.
- Angelini C, Vergani L, Martinuzzi A. Clinical and biochemical aspects of carnitine deficiency and insufficiency: transport defects and inborn errors of beta-oxidation. Critical Reviews in Clinical Laboratory Sciences. 1992;29(3-4):217-42.
- Pons R, De Vivo DC. Primary and secondary carnitine deficiency syndromes. Journal of Child Neurology. 1995;10 Suppl 2:S8-24.
- 86. Steiber A, Kerner J, Hoppel CL. Carnitine: a nutritional, biosynthetic, and functional perspective. Molecular Aspects of Medicine. 2004;25(5-6):455-73.
- Stanley CA. Carnitine deficiency disorders in children. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2004;1033:42-51.
- Rebouche CJ, Engel AG. Tissue distribution of carnitine biosynthetic enzymes in man.
 Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1980;630(1):22-9..
- Rebouche CJ. Sites and regulation of carnitine biosynthesis in mammals. Federation Proceedings. 1982;41(12):2848-52.

- 90. Strijbis K, Vaz FM, Distel B. Enzymology of the carnitine biosynthesis pathway. IUBMB Life. 2010;62(5):357-62.
- 91. Garcia-Delgado M, Peral MJ, Duran JM, Garcia-Miranda P, Calonge ML, Ilundain AA. Ontogeny of Na(+)/L-carnitine transporter and of gamma-trimethylaminobutyraldehyde dehydrogenase and gamma-butyrobetaine hydroxylase genes expression in rat kidney. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development. 2009;130(4):227-33.
- Evans AM, Fornasini G. Pharmacokinetics of L-carnitine. Clinical Pharmacokinetics. 2003;42(11):941-67.
- 93. Rebouche CJ, Engel AG. Kinetic compartmental analysis of carnitine metabolism in the human carnitine deficiency syndromes. Evidence for alterations in tissue carnitine transport. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 1984;73(3):857-67.
- 94. Matsuda K, Yuasa H, Watanabe J. Fractional absorption of L-carnitine after oral administration in rats: evaluation of absorption site and dose dependency. Biological & Pharmaceutical Bulletin. 1998;21(7):752-5.
- 95. McCloud E, Ma TY, Grant KE, Mathis RK, Said HM. Uptake of L-carnitine by a human intestinal epithelial cell line, Caco-2. Gastroenterology. 1996;111(6):1534-40.
- 96. Gross CJ, Henderson LM, Savaiano DA. Uptake of L-carnitine, D-carnitine and acetyl-Lcarnitine by isolated guinea-pig enterocytes. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1986;886(3):425-33.
- Bain MA, Milne RW, Evans AM. Disposition and metabolite kinetics of oral L-carnitine in humans. Journal of Clinical Pharmacology. 2006;46(10):1163-70.
- 98. Marzo A, Cardace G, Corbelletta C, Pace S, D'Iddio S, Verrotti C, et al. Plasma concentration, urinary excretion and renal clearance of L-carnitine during pregnancy: a

reversible secondary L-carnitine deficiency. Gynecological Endocrinology. 1994;8(2):115-20.

- Rebouche CJ, Lombard KA, Chenard CA. Renal adaptation to dietary carnitine in humans.
 American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 1993;58(5):660-5.
- 100. Flanagan JL, Simmons PA, Vehige J, Willcox MD, Garrett Q. Role of carnitine in disease. Nutrition & Metabolism. 2010;7:30.
- 101. Koepsell H, Lips K, Volk C. Polyspecific organic cation transporters: structure, function, physiological roles, and biopharmaceutical implications. Pharmaceutical Research. 2007;24(7):1227-51.
- 102. Taylor PM. Absorbing competition for carnitine. Journal of Physiology. 2001;532(Pt 2):283.
- 103. Sloan JL, Grubb BR, Mager S. Expression of the amino acid transporter ATB 0+ in lung: possible role in luminal protein removal. American Journal of Physiology Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology. 2003;284(1):L39-49.
- 104. Nakanishi T, Hatanaka T, Huang W, Prasad PD, Leibach FH, Ganapathy ME, et al. Na+and Cl--coupled active transport of carnitine by the amino acid transporter ATB(0,+) from mouse colon expressed in HRPE cells and Xenopus oocytes. Journal of Physiology. 2001;532(Pt 2):297-304.
- 105. Avissar NE, Ryan CK, Ganapathy V, Sax HC. Na(+)-dependent neutral amino acid transporter ATB(0) is a rabbit epithelial cell brush-border protein. American journal of Physiology Cell Physiology. 2001;281(3):C963-71.
- 106. Ramsay RR. The role of the carnitine system in peroxisomal fatty acid oxidation. American Journal of the Medical Sciences. 1999;318(1):28-35.

- 107. Tamai I, Ohashi R, Nezu JI, Sai Y, Kobayashi D, Oku A, et al. Molecular and functional characterization of organic cation/carnitine transporter family in mice. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2000;275(51):40064-72.
- 108. Hediger MA, Romero MF, Peng JB, Rolfs A, Takanaga H, Bruford EA. The ABCs of solute carriers: physiological, pathological and therapeutic implications of human membrane transport proteinsIntroduction. Pflugers Archiv: European Journal of Physiology. 2004;447(5):465-8.
- 109. Tamai I, Yabuuchi H, Nezu J, Sai Y, Oku A, Shimane M, et al. Cloning and characterization of a novel human pH-dependent organic cation transporter, OCTN1. FEBS Letters. 1997;419(1):107-11.
- 110. Xuan W, Lamhonwah AM, Librach C, Jarvi K, Tein I. Characterization of organic cation/carnitine transporter family in human sperm. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2003;306(1):121-8.
- 111. Grigat S, Harlfinger S, Pal S, Striebinger R, Golz S, Geerts A, et al. Probing the substrate specificity of the ergothioneine transporter with methimazole, hercynine, and organic cations. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2007;74(2):309-16.
- 112. Wang Y, Ye J, Ganapathy V, Longo N. Mutations in the organic cation/carnitine transporter OCTN2 in primary carnitine deficiency. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1999;96(5):2356-60.
- 113. Elimrani I, Lahjouji K, Seidman E, Roy MJ, Mitchell GA, Qureshi I. Expression and localization of organic cation/carnitine transporter OCTN2 in Caco-2 cells. American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology. 2003;284(5):G863-71.

- 114. Wu X, Prasad PD, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V. cDNA sequence, transport function, and genomic organization of human OCTN2, a new member of the organic cation transporter family. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 1998;246(3):589-95.
- 115. Tahara H, Yee SW, Urban TJ, Hesselson S, Castro RA, Kawamoto M, et al. Functional genetic variation in the basal promoter of the organic cation/carnitine transporters OCTN1 (SLC22A4) and OCTN2 (SLC22A5). Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 2009;329(1):262-71.
- 116. Lamhonwah AM, Ackerley CA, Tilups A, Edwards VD, Wanders RJ, Tein I. OCTN3 is a mammalian peroxisomal membrane carnitine transporter. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2005;338(4):1966-72.
- 117. Duran JM, Peral MJ, Calonge ML, Ilundain AA. OCTN3: A Na+-independent L-carnitine transporter in enterocytes basolateral membrane. Journal of Cellular Physiology. 2005;202(3):929-35.
- 118. Klaassen CD, Aleksunes LM. Xenobiotic, bile acid, and cholesterol transporters: function and regulation. Pharmacological Reviews. 2010;62(1):1-96.
- 119. Kano T, Kato Y, Ito K, Ogihara T, Kubo Y, Tsuji A. Carnitine/organic cation transporter OCTN2 (Slc22a5) is responsible for renal secretion of cephaloridine in mice. Drug Metabolism and Disposition. 2009;37(5):1009-16.
- 120. Jong NN, Nakanishi T, Liu JJ, Tamai I, McKeage MJ. Oxaliplatin transport mediated by organic cation/carnitine transporters OCTN1 and OCTN2 in overexpressing human embryonic kidney 293 cells and rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 2011;338(2):537-47.

- 121. Berardi S, Stieger B, Hagenbuch B, Carafoli E, Krahenbuhl S. Characterization of Lcarnitine transport into rat skeletal muscle plasma membrane vesicles. European Journal of Biochemistry. 2000;267(7):1985-94.
- 122. Januszewicz E, Bekisz M, Mozrzymas JW, Nalecz KA. High affinity carnitine transporters from OCTN family in neural cells. Neurochemical Research. 2010;35(5):743-8.
- 123. Lamhonwah AM, Mai L, Chung C, Lamhonwah D, Ackerley C, Tein I. Upregulation of mammary gland OCTNs maintains carnitine homeostasis in suckling infants. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2011;404(4):1010-5.
- 124. Tachikawa M, Takeda Y, Tomi M, Hosoya K. Involvement of OCTN2 in the transport of acetyl-L-carnitine across the inner blood-retinal barrier. Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science. 2010;51(1):430-6.
- 125. Fortin G, Yurchenko K, Collette C, Rubio M, Villani AC, Bitton A, et al. L-carnitine, a diet component and organic cation transporter OCTN ligand, displays immunosuppressive properties and abrogates intestinal inflammation. Clinical and Experimental Immunology. 2009;156(1):161-71.
- 126. Alnouti Y, Petrick JS, Klaassen CD. Tissue distribution and ontogeny of organic cation transporters in mice. Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals. 2006;34(3):477-82. Epub 2005/12/31.
- 127. Engel AG, Rebouche CJ. Carnitine metabolism and inborn errors. Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease. 1984;7(1):38-43.
- 128. Di Donato S, Pelucchetti D, Rimoldi M, Mora M, Garavaglia B, Finocchiaro G. Systemic carnitine deficiency: clinical, biochemical, and morphological cure with L-carnitine. Neurology. 1984;34(2):157-62.

- 129. Yokogawa K, Higashi Y, Tamai I, Nomura M, Hashimoto N, Nikaido H, et al. Decreased tissue distribution of L-carnitine in juvenile visceral steatosis mice. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 1999;289(1):224-30.
- Urban TJ, Gallagher RC, Brown C, Castro RA, Lagpacan LL, Brett CM, et al. Functional genetic diversity in the high-affinity carnitine transporter OCTN2 (SLC22A5). Molecular Pharmacology. 2006;70(5):1602-11.
- Lahjouji K, Mitchell GA, Qureshi IA. Carnitine transport by organic cation transporters and systemic carnitine deficiency. Molecular Genetics and Metabolism. 2001;73(4):287-97.
- 132. Girard J, Ferre P, Pegorier JP, Duee PH. Adaptations of glucose and fatty acid metabolism during perinatal period and suckling-weaning transition. Physiological Reviews. 1992;72(2):507-62.
- 133. Opdal SH, Rognum TO. The sudden infant death syndrome gene: does it exist? Pediatrics.2004;114(4):e506-12.
- 134. Chace DH, Pons R, Chiriboga CA, McMahon DJ, Tein I, Naylor EW, et al. Neonatal blood carnitine concentrations: normative data by electrospray tandem mass spectometry. Pediatric Research. 2003;53(5):823-9.
- 135. Chiu KM, Schmidt MJ, Havighurst TC, Shug AL, Daynes RA, Keller ET, et al. Correlation of serum L-carnitine and dehydro-epiandrosterone sulphate levels with age and sex in healthy adults. Age and ageing. 1999;28(2):211-6. E
- 136. Ling B, Aziz C, Alcorn J. Systematic evaluation of key L-carnitine homeostasis mechanisms during postnatal development in rat. Nutrition & Metabolism. 2012;9(1):66.

- 137. Reuter SE, Evans AM. Carnitine and acylcarnitines: pharmacokinetic, pharmacological and clinical aspects. Clinical Pharmacokinetics. 2012;51(9):553-72.
- Rebouche CJ. Ascorbic acid and carnitine biosynthesis. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 1991;54(6 Suppl):1147S-52S.
- Bohmer T. Conversion of butyrobetaine to carnitine in the rat in vivo. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1974;343(3):551-7.
- 140. Carter AL, Frenkel R. The role of the kidney in the biosynthesis of carnitine in the rat. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1979;254(21):10670-4.
- 141. Zaspel BJ, Sheridan KJ, Henderson LM. Transport and metabolism of carnitine precursors in various organs of the rat. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1980;631(1):192-202.
- 142. Peral MJ, Galvez M, Soria ML, Ilundain AA. Developmental decrease in rat small intestinal creatine uptake. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development. 2005;126(4):523-30.
- 143. Garcia-Miranda P, Duran JM, Peral MJ, Ilundain AA. Developmental maturation and segmental distribution of rat small intestinal L-carnitine uptake. Journal of Membrane Biology. 2005;206(1):9-16.
- 144. Grube M, Meyer Zu Schwabedissen H, Draber K, Prager D, Moritz KU, Linnemann K, et al. Expression, localization, and function of the carnitine transporter octn2 (slc22a5) in human placenta. Drug Metabolism and Disposition. 2005;33(1):31-7.
- 145. Slitt AL, Cherrington NJ, Hartley DP, Leazer TM, Klaassen CD. Tissue distribution and renal developmental changes in rat organic cation transporter mRNA levels. Drug Metabolism and Disposition. 2002;30(2):212-9.

- 146. Peral MJ, Garcia-Delgado M, Calonge ML, Duran JM, De La Horra MC, Wallimann T, et al. Human, rat and chicken small intestinal Na+ - Cl- -creatine transporter: functional, molecular characterization and localization. Journal of Physiology. 2002;545(Pt 1):133-44.
- 147. Drozdowski LA, Clandinin T, Thomson AB. Ontogeny, growth and development of the small intestine: Understanding pediatric gastroenterology. World Journal of Gastroenterology. 2010;16(7):787-99.
- 148. Hartmann G, Cheung AK, Piquette-Miller M. Inflammatory cytokines, but not bile acids, regulate expression of murine hepatic anion transporters in endotoxemia. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 2002;303(1):273-81.
- 149. Petrovic V, Teng S, Piquette-Miller M. Regulation of drug transporters during infection and inflammation. Molecular Interventions. 2007;7(2):99-111.
- 150. Schmith VD, Foss JF. Effects of inflammation on pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics: increasing recognition of its contribution to variability in response. Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 2008;83(6):809-11.
- 151. Le Vee M, Gripon P, Stieger B, Fardel O. Down-regulation of organic anion transporter expression in human hepatocytes exposed to the proinflammatory cytokine interleukin 1beta. Drug metabolism and Disposition. 2008;36(2):217-22.
- 152. Renton KW. Regulation of drug metabolism and disposition during inflammation and infection. Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism & Toxicology. 2005;1(4):629-40.
- 153. Geier A, Wagner M, Dietrich CG, Trauner M. Principles of hepatic organic anion transporter regulation during cholestasis, inflammation and liver regeneration. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 2007;1773(3):283-308.

- 154. Schmidt C, Hocherl K, Bucher M. Regulation of renal glucose transporters during severe inflammation. American Journal of Physiology Renal Physiology. 2007;292(2):F804-11.
- 155. Foster DR, Landowski CP, Zheng X, Amidon GL, Welage LS. Interferon-gamma increases expression of the di/tri-peptide transporter, h-PEPT1, and dipeptide transport in cultured human intestinal monolayers. Pharmacological Research. 2009;59(3):215-20.
- 156. Ingersoll SA, Ayyadurai S, Charania MA, Laroui H, Yan Y, Merlin D. The role and pathophysiological relevance of membrane transporter PepT1 in intestinal inflammation and inflammatory bowel disease. American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology. 2012;302(5):G484-92.
- 157. Geier A, Dietrich CG, Voigt S, Kim SK, Gerloff T, Kullak-Ublick GA, et al. Effects of proinflammatory cytokines on rat organic anion transporters during toxic liver injury and cholestasis. Hepatology. 2003;38(2):345-54.
- 158. Donner MG, Schumacher S, Warskulat U, Heinemann J, Haussinger D. Obstructive cholestasis induces TNF-alpha- and IL-1 -mediated periportal downregulation of Bsep and zonal regulation of Ntcp, Oatp1a4, and Oatp1b2. American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology. 2007;293(6):G1134-46.
- 159. Whiting JF, Green RM, Rosenbluth AB, Gollan JL. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha decreases hepatocyte bile salt uptake and mediates endotoxin-induced cholestasis. Hepatology. 1995;22(4 Pt 1):1273-8.
- 160. Bolder U, Ton-Nu HT, Schteingart CD, Frick E, Hofmann AF. Hepatocyte transport of bile acids and organic anions in endotoxemic rats: impaired uptake and secretion. Gastroenterology. 1997;112(1):214-25.

- 161. Vee ML, Lecureur V, Stieger B, Fardel O. Regulation of drug transporter expression in human hepatocytes exposed to the proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha or interleukin-6. Drug Metabolism and Disposition. 2009;37(3):685-93.
- 162. Wojtal KA, Eloranta JJ, Hruz P, Gutmann H, Drewe J, Staumann A, et al. Changes in mRNA expression levels of solute carrier transporters in inflammatory bowel disease patients. Drug Metabolism and Disposition. 2009;37(9):1871-7.
- 163. Yang KH, Lee MG. Effects of endotoxin derived from Escherichia coli lipopolysaccharide on the pharmacokinetics of drugs. Archives of Pharmacal Research. 2008;31(9):1073-86.
- 164. Eder K, Ringseis R. The role of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha in transcriptional regulation of novel organic cation transporters. European Journal of Pharmacology. 2010;628(1-3):1-5.
- 165. Teng S, Piquette-Miller M. Regulation of transporters by nuclear hormone receptors: implications during inflammation. Molecular Pharmaceutics. 2008;5(1):67-76.
- 166. Wang H, LeCluyse EL. Role of orphan nuclear receptors in the regulation of drugmetabolising enzymes. Clinical Pharmacokinetics. 2003;42(15):1331-57.
- 167. Tirona RG. Molecular mechanisms of drug transporter regulation. Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology. 2011(201):373-402.
- 168. Urquhart BL, Tirona RG, Kim RB. Nuclear receptors and the regulation of drugmetabolizing enzymes and drug transporters: implications for interindividual variability in response to drugs. Journal of Clinical Pharmacology. 2007;47(5):566-78.
- 169. Pascussi JM, Gerbal-Chaloin S, Duret C, Daujat-Chavanieu M, Vilarem MJ, Maurel P. The tangle of nuclear receptors that controls xenobiotic metabolism and transport: crosstalk and consequences. Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology. 2008;48:1-32.\

- 170. Zollner G, Marschall HU, Wagner M, Trauner M. Role of nuclear receptors in the adaptive response to bile acids and cholestasis: pathogenetic and therapeutic considerations. Molecular Pharmaceutics. 2006;3(3):231-51.
- 171. Greger DL, Philipona C, Blum JW. Ontogeny of mRNA abundance of nuclear receptors and nuclear receptor target genes in young cattle. Domestic Animal Endocrinology. 2006;31(1):76-87.
- 172. Spencer SJ, Mouihate A, Galic MA, Ellis SL, Pittman QJ. Neonatal immune challenge does not affect body weight regulation in rats. American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 2007;293(2):R581-9.
- 173. Brehmer F, Bendix I, Prager S, van de Looij Y, Reinboth BS, Zimmermanns J, et al. Interaction of inflammation and hyperoxia in a rat model of neonatal white matter damage. PloS One. 2012;7(11):e49023.
- 174. Ling B, Aziz C, Wojnarowicz C, Olkowski A, Alcorn J. Timing and duration of drug exposure affects outcomes of a drug-nutrient interaction during ontogeny. Pharmaceutics. 2010;2(4):321-38.
- 175. Galland S, Le Borgne F, Guyonnet D, Clouet P, Demarquoy J. Purification and characterization of the rat liver gamma-butyrobetaine hydroxylase. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry. 1998;178(1-2):163-8.
- 176. Mayer-Davis EJ, Rifas-Shiman SL, Zhou L, Hu FB, Colditz GA, Gillman MW. Breastfeeding and risk for childhood obesity: does maternal diabetes or obesity status matter? Diabetes Care. 2006;29(10):2231-7.
- 177. Bieber LL, Abraham T, Helmrath T. A rapid spectrophotometric assay for carnitine palmitoyltransferase. Analytical Biochemistry. 1972;50(2):509-18.
- 178. Alhomida AS. Evaluation of theophylline-stimulated changes in carnitine palmitoyltransferase activity in skeletal muscle and liver of rats. Journal of Enzyme Inhibition. 2001;16(2):177-83.
- 179. Yu XX, Odle J, Drackley JK. Differential induction of peroxisomal beta-oxidation enzymes by clofibric acid and aspirin in piglet tissues. American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 2001;281(5):R1553-61.
- 180. Olkowski AA, Nain S, Wojnarowicz C, Laarveld B, Alcorn J, Ling BB. Comparative study of myocardial high energy phosphate substrate content in slow and fast growing chicken and in chickens with heart failure and ascites. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A, Molecular & integrative physiology. 2007;148(1):230-8.
- 181. Lucas A. Role of nutritional programming in determining adult morbidity. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 1994;71(4):288-90.
- 182. Ling B, Alcorn J. Acute administration of cefepime lowers L-carnitine concentrations in early lactation stage rat milk. Journal of Nutrition. 2008;138(7):1317-22.
- 183. Marin-Garcia J, Goldenthal MJ. Fatty acid metabolism in cardiac failure: biochemical, genetic and cellular analysis. Cardiovascular Research. 2002;54(3):516-27.
- 184. Peschechera A, Scalibastri M, Russo F, Giarrizzo MG, Carminati P, Giannessi F, et al. Carnitine depletion in rat pups from mothers given mildronate: a model of carnitine deficiency in late fetal and neonatal life. Life Sciences. 2005;77(24):3078-91.
- 185. Sack MN, Harrington LS, Jonassen AK, Mjos OD, Yellon DM. Coordinate regulation of metabolic enzyme encoding genes during cardiac development and following carvedilol therapy in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Cardiovascular Drugs and Therapy. 2000;14(1):31-9.

- 186. Ulich TR, Watson LR, Yin SM, Guo KZ, Wang P, Thang H, et al. The intratracheal administration of endotoxin and cytokines. I. Characterization of LPS-induced IL-1 and TNF mRNA expression and the LPS-, IL-1-, and TNF-induced inflammatory infiltrate. American Journal of Pathology. 1991;138(6):1485-96.
- 187. Galland S, Le Borgne F, Bouchard F, Georges B, Clouet P, Grand-Jean F, et al. Molecular cloning and characterization of the cDNA encoding the rat liver gamma-butyrobetaine hydroxylase. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1999;1441(1):85-92.
- Hahn P. The development of carnitine synthesis from gamma-butyrobetaine in the rat. Life Sciences. 1981;28(9):1057-60.
- 189. Haschke M, Vitins T, Lude S, Todesco L, Novakova K, Herrmann R, et al. Urinary excretion of carnitine as a marker of proximal tubular damage associated with platin-based antineoplastic drugs. Nephrology, Dialysis, Transplantation. 2010;25(2):426-33.
- 190. Lancaster CS, Hu C, Franke RM, Filipski KK, Orwick SJ, Chen Z, et al. Cisplatin-induced downregulation of OCTN2 affects carnitine wasting. Clinical Cancer Research. 2010;16(19):4789-99.
- 191. Shekhawat PS, Sonne S, Carter AL, Matern D, Ganapathy V. Enzymes involved in Lcarnitine biosynthesis are expressed by small intestinal enterocytes in mice: implications for gut health. Journal of Crohn's & Colitis. 2013;7(6):e197-205.